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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
HILL INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)
June 30, 2014
(unaudited)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash - restricted
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $8,867 and $9,530
Accounts receivable - affiliate
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income taxes receivable
Deferred income tax assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Cash - restricted, net of current portion
Retainage receivable
Acquired intangibles, net
Goodwill
Investments
Deferred income tax assets
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Due to bank
Current maturities of notes payable
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue
Deferred income taxes
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Notes payable, net of current maturities
Retainage payable
Deferred income taxes
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.0001 par value; 1,000 shares authorized, none issued
Common stock, $.0001 par value; 100,000 shares authorized, 47,288 shares and 46,598 shares issued at
June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Less treasury stock of 6,546 and 6,434 shares at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, at cost
Hill International, Inc. share of equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$
$

December 31, 2013

26,847
9,025
248,556
1,058
13,618
4,356
1,737
305,197
11,160
7,755
1,346
22,290
87,885
5,948
13,955
7,389
462,925

$

—
53,307
100,668
4,717
16,885
376
14,444
190,397
87,578
1,031
16,724
14,598
4,365
314,693

$

$

—

$

5
140,007
48,609
(22,248)
166,373
(28,304)
138,069
10,163
148,232
462,925

30,381
15,766
232,011
492
13,078
4,460
1,705
297,893
10,613
2,740
1,212
24,964
85,853
5,984
13,882
5,961
449,102
2
18,974
92,270
9,442
18,203
369
12,255
151,515
114,285
1,017
16,732
16,261
6,261
306,071
—

$

5
136,899
47,038
(25,032)
158,910
(27,766)
131,144
11,887
143,031
449,102

Table of Contents
HILL INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

Consulting fee revenue
Reimbursable expenses
Total revenue

$

144,515
15,124
159,639

Cost of services
Reimbursable expenses
Total direct expenses

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

128,427
20,037
148,464

$

281,764
27,888
309,652

$

250,983
33,554
284,537

83,246
15,124
98,370

75,357
20,037
95,394

161,836
27,888
189,724

148,055
33,554
181,609

61,269

53,070

119,928

102,928

52,614

43,230

105,273

85,689

8,655

9,840

14,655

17,239

Interest expense and related financing fees, net

5,646

6,281

10,722

11,768

Earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense

3,009
993

3,559
2,288

3,933
1,624

5,471
4,162

2,016

1,271

2,309

1,309

498

552

738

970

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Operating profit

Net earnings
Less: net earnings - noncontrolling interests
Net earnings attributable to Hill International, Inc.

$

1,518

$

719

$

1,571

$

339

Basic earnings per common share - Hill International, Inc.
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding

$

0.04
40,568

$

0.02
38,826

$

0.04
40,184

$

0.01
38,745

Diluted earnings per common share - Hill International, Inc.
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

$

0.04
42,591

$

0.02
38,943

$

0.04
41,570

$

0.01
38,950

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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HILL INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (LOSS)
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

Consolidated net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax
Other, net
Comprehensive earnings (loss)
Comprehensive earnings (loss) earnings attributable to
noncontrolling interests
Comprehensive earnings (loss) attributable to Hill
International, Inc.

$

2,016
1,090
383
3,489

$

407
$

3,082

Six Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

1,271
(2,270)
86
(913)
(106)

$

(807 )

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

2,309
2,549
422
5,280

$

925
$

4,355

1,309
(5,165)
108
(3,748)
(312)

$

(3,436 )
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HILL INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Reduction of notes payable to Engineering S.A.
Provision for bad debts
Interest accretion on term loan
Deferred tax expense
Share based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net:
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable - affiliate
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income taxes receivable
Retainage receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
Retainage payable
Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for purchase of property and equipment
Cash received from acquisition
Contribution to affiliate
Payment of liability for additional interest in Hill Spain
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Due to bank
Payments on notes payable
Net borrowings on revolving loans
Proceeds from stock issued under employee stock purchase plan
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period

$

2,309

$

4,864
—
442
4,247
307
1,927

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1,309
5,196
(366)
1,442
3,847
590
1,583

1,726
(19,403)
(566)
(655)
49
(134)
(2,232)
9,331
(4,610)
(2,614)
(790)
14
(1,842)
(7,630)

307
(29,230)
118
(3,979)
(468)
(184)
345
5,468
(2,226)
7,797
2,026
14
262
(6,149)

(2,372)
—
—
—
(2,372)

(1,293)
727
(5)
(9,325)
(9,896)

(2)
(1,160)
4,626
54
879
4,397
2,071
(3,534)
30,381
26,847

(16)
(106)
19,829
53
20
19,780
1,374
5,109
16,716
21,825

$
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HILL INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
Note 1 - The Company
Hill International, Inc. (“Hill” or the “Company”) is a professional services firm that provides program management, project management, construction
management, construction claims and other consulting services primarily to the buildings, transportation, environmental, energy and industrial markets
worldwide. Hill’s clients include the U.S. federal government, U.S. state and local governments, foreign governments and the private sector. The Company is
organized into two key operating divisions: the Project Management Group and the Construction Claims Group.
Note 2 — Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission pertaining to reports on Form 10-Q and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. Accordingly, they do not include all of the
information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements. In the
opinion of management, these statements include all adjustments (consisting only of normal, recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Hill and its wholly- and majority-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The interim operating results are not necessarily indicative of the
results for a full year.
Note 3 — Accounts Receivable
The components of accounts receivable are as follows (in thousands):
June 30, 2014

Billed
Retainage, current portion
Unbilled

$

Allowance for doubtful accounts
$

204,065
13,699
39,659
257,423
(8,867)
248,556

December 31, 2013

$

$

206,469
10,215
24,857
241,541
(9,530)
232,011

In early 2014, the Company received additional payments against accounts receivable related to work performed by Hill prior to March 2011 pursuant to
contracts with the Libyan government of approximately $6,800,000 consisting of approximately 200,000 pounds sterling ($300,000), approximately LYD
2,100,000 ($1,700,000) and $4,800,000 in U.S. dollars. Total receipts to date amounted to approximately $9,900,000 and, at June 30, 2014, the remaining
accounts receivable outstanding related to Hill’s work in Libya amounted to approximately $50,100,000.
Since the end of the Libyan civil unrest in October 2011, the Company has sought to recover the receivable from its client, the Libyan Organization for the
Development of Administrative Centres (“ODAC”) through ongoing negotiations rather than pursue its legal rights for payment under the contracts. The
Company continues to believe that this course of action provides the best likelihood for recovery as it could result in completion of and payment on the
existing contracts as well as the potential for the award of new contracts. There is at present no formal agreement, understanding or timetable for
7
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further payments of Hill’s accounts receivable from ODAC or a return to work on Hill’s existing contracts. Management believes that the recent payments
made in 2013 and 2014, along with standby letters of credit of approximately $14,000,000 posted in our favor by ODAC, were made in good faith and are a
positive indication that ODAC intends to satisfy its obligations to Hill. Currently, the Company and ODAC are in the process of extending the standby
letters of credit for an additional six-month term. However, the Company cannot predict with certainty when, or if, the remaining accounts receivable will be
paid by the Libyan authorities or when work will resume there. In the event that the Company does not realize any further payments, there could be a
significant adverse impact on its consolidated results of operations and consolidated financial position.
Note 4 — Intangible Assets
The following table summarizes the Company’s acquired intangible assets (in thousands):
June 30, 2014
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Client relationships
Acquired contract rights
Trade names
Total
Intangible assets, net

$

38,287
11,650
3,306
53,243
22,290

$
$

December 31, 2013
Gross
Carrying
Accumulated
Amount
Amortization

Accumulated
Amortization

$
$

20,734
9,175
1,044
30,953

$

37,501
11,874
3,266
52,641
24,964

$
$

$
$

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

$

1,546

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

1,656

$

2013

3,132

$

3,234

The following table presents the estimated amortization expense based on our present intangible assets for the next five years (in thousands):
Estimated
Amortization
Expense

Year ending December 31,

2014 (remaining 6 months)
2015
2016
2017
2018

$

8

3,052
5,625
4,171
3,142
2,089

18,238
8,541
898
27,677
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Note 5 — Goodwill
The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s carrying value of goodwill during 2014 (in thousands):
Project
Management

Balance, December 31, 2013
Additions
Translation adjustments
Balance, June 30, 2014

$
$

Construction
Claims

58,448
—
1,219
59,667

$

Total

27,405
—
813
28,218

$

$
$

85,853
—
2,032
87,885

Note 6 — Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Below are the components of accounts payable and accrued expenses (in thousands):
June 30, 2014

Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Accrued subcontractor fees
Accrued agency fees
Accrued legal and professional fees
Other accrued expenses

$

$
9

28,992
42,007
5,838
16,111
762
6,958
100,668

December 31, 2013

$

$

25,349
35,732
6,212
17,623
1,239
6,115
92,270
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Note 7 — Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
On June 12, 2014, the Company and its subsidiary Hill International N.V. entered into a Commitment Letter with Société Générale (the “Agent”) and SG
Americas Securities, LLC, (the “Arranger”) pursuant to which the Arranger and the Agent committed, subject to the conditions and other terms and provisions
of the Commitment Letter, to provide secured debt facilities to the Company in an aggregate principal amount of $165,000,000 which would be used to
payoff and terminate the existing Term Loan and existing Revolving Credit Agreement. These secured debt facilities are expected to close during
August 2014. See Note 16 for further information.
Outstanding debt obligations are as follows (in thousands):
June 30, 2014

Term loan payable (For more information, see below)

$

Revolving Credit loan payable under the Credit Agreement. The weighted average interest rate of all
borrowings was 7.22% and 5.32% at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. (For more
information, see below.)

88,721

December 31, 2013

$

84,474

42,600

39,000

Borrowings under revolving credit facilities with a consortium of banks in Spain
(For more information, see below.)

7,542

7,670

Borrowings under unsecured credit facility with Caja Badajoz
(For more information, see below.)

1,091

2,047

916

—

15
140,885
53,307
87,578

68
133,259
18,974
114,285

Borrowings under revolving credit facility with the National Bank of Abu Dhabi
(For more information, see below.)
Other notes payable
Less current maturities
Notes payable and long-term debt, net of current maturities

$

$

Term Loan Agreement
The Company entered into a Term Loan Agreement on October 18, 2012, which was amended on May 23, 2013 (the “First Amendment”) and again on
July 25, 2014 (the “Second Amendment”). The First Amendment contains identical provisions as those in the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement (see
below) and the Second Amendment contains identical provisions as the Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver to Credit Agreement (see below). Borrowings
under the Term Loan Agreement are collateralized by a second lien on substantially all of the Company’s assets, including, without limitation, accounts
receivable, equipment, securities, financial assets and the proceeds of the foregoing, as well as by a pledge of 65% of the outstanding capital stock of its
wholly-owned foreign subsidiary, Hill International N.V., and of certain of its other foreign subsidiaries. The maturity date of the Term Loan is October 18,
2016.
The Company will pay interest on amounts outstanding from time to time under the Term Loan at a rate per annum equal to 7.50%, however, such rate may
be increased to 9.50% per annum if fixed price contracts (as defined under the Term Loan Agreement) or certain accounts receivable of the Company and its
subsidiaries exceed percentages specified in the Term Loan Agreement.
Also, contemporaneous with its entry into the Term Loan Agreement, the Company entered into a Fee Letter. The Fee Letter requires the Company to pay to
the Lenders an exit fee (the “Exit Fee”), which fee shall be earned in full on the Closing Date and due and payable on the date the Term Loan is paid in full
(the “Exit Date”). “Exit Fee” means the amount, if any, when paid to the Term Loan Lenders on the Exit Date, that will result in the internal annual rate of
return to the Term Loan Lenders on the Exit Date being equal to, but no greater than, 20%; provided that in no event shall the Exit Fee Amount be less than
$0 or greater than $11,790,000. The IRR is to be calculated as the rate of return earned by the Term Loan Lenders on their initial investment in the Term
Loan (to be calculated as the principal amount of the Term Loan less the Closing Fee of $25,000,000) through the Exit Date taking into account the payment
by the Company to the
10
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Term Loan Lenders of all principal, interest and other payments to the Term Loan Lenders pursuant to the Term Loan Agreement.
At June 30, 2014, the Company was in compliance with all of the Term Loan covenants.
Revolving Credit Agreement
The Company entered into a Credit Agreement, dated June 30, 2009 (the “Credit Agreement”), with Bank of America, N.A., Capital One, N.A., The
PrivateBank and Trust Company, PNC Bank N.A. (the “Lenders”), and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent (the “Agent”). On May 23, 2013, the
Company entered into a Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement pursuant to which, among other things, the Lenders agreed to : (a) permit the Company to
enter into an agreement with Qatar National Bank for the issuance of letters of credit (“LCs”) not to exceed $17,000,000, (b) increase the limit on LCs
available to the Company’s foreign subsidiaries who are not loan parties from $4,000,000 to $11,800,000 and (c) permit the Company to provide up to
$20,000,000 as cash collateral for letters of credit and performance bonds. On July 25, 2014, the Company entered into a Fifth Amendment and Limited
Waiver to Credit Agreement pursuant to which the Lenders agreed, among other things, to permit the Company to sell its common stock through a follow-on
offering (see Note 16) resulting in receipt by the Company of net proceeds aggregating not less than $30,000,000.
The following tables set forth the requirements for the consolidated leverage ratio, consolidated fixed charge ratio and the senior leverage ratio as of June 30,
2014:
Consolidated Leverage Ratio

Consolidated Fixed Charge Ratio

Senior Leverage Ratio

Not to exceed 5.75 to 1.00

Not less than 1.15 to 1.00

Not to exceed 2.25 to 1.00

The following table presents the Company’s actual ratios at June 30, 2014:
Consolidated Leverage Ratio

Consolidated Fixed Charge Ratio

Senior Leverage Ratio

4.41 to 1.00

1.46 to 1.00

1.84 to 1.00

At June 30, 2014, the Company had $19,530,000 in outstanding letters of credit. Due to conditions of the Credit Facility, as amended, total remaining
availability was $2,870,000.
The maturity date of the Credit Agreement is March 31, 2015. Accordingly, the Company has classified all borrowings under the Credit Agreement as current
in the consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2014.
Other Debt Arrangements
The Company’s subsidiary, Hill International (Spain) S.A. (“Hill Spain”), maintains a revolving credit facility with 12 banks (the “Financing Entities”) in
Spain providing for total borrowings, with interest at 6.50%, of up to €5,640,000 (approximately $7,695,000 at June 30, 2014). At June 30, 2014, total
borrowings outstanding were €5,528,000 (approximately $7,542,000). The amount being financed (“Credit Contracts”) by each Financing Entity is between
€156,000 (approximately $213,000) and €689,000 (approximately $940,000). The facility expires on December 17, 2016. The maximum available amount
will be reduced to 75.0% at December 31, 2014 and to 50.0% at December 31, 2015. To guarantee Hill Spain’s obligations resulting from the Credit
Contracts, Hill Spain provided a guarantee in favor of each one of the Financing Entities, which, additionally, and solely in the case of unremedied failure to
make payment, and at the request of each of the Financing Entities, shall grant a first ranking pledge over a given percentage of corporate shares of Hill
International Brasil Participacoes Ltda. for the principal, interest, fees, expenses or any other amount owed by virtue of the Credit Contracts, coinciding with
the percentage of credit of each Financing Entity with respect to the total outstanding borrowings under this facility.
11
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Hill Spain maintains an unsecured credit facility with the Caja Badajoz bank in Spain for €800,000 (approximately $1,091,000) at June 30, 2014. The
interest rate at June 30, 2014 was 7.50%. At June 30, 2014, total borrowings outstanding were €800,000 (approximately $1,091,000). The facility expires on
December 23, 2014.
The Company maintains a credit facility with the National Bank of Abu Dhabi which provides for total borrowings of up to AED 11,500,000 (approximately
$3,131,000 at June 30, 2014) collateralized by certain overseas receivables. The interest rate is the one-month Emirates InterBank Offer Rate plus 3.50% (or
4.70% at June 30, 2014) but no less than 5.50%. At June 30, 2014, total borrowings outstanding were AED 3,364,000 (approximately $916,000). This facility
also allows for to AED 127,033,000 (approximately $34,589,000 at June 30, 2014) in Letters of Guarantee of which AED 122,577,000 (approximately
$33,375,000) were utilized at June 30, 2014. This facility is being renewed on a month-to-month basis.
The Company maintains a credit facility with Egnatia Bank that allows for letters of guarantee up to €4,500,000 (approximately $6,139,000 at June 30,
2014), of which €2,180,000 (approximately $2,974,000) had been utilized at June 30, 2014. The facility expires on April 30, 2018.
Engineering S.A. maintains three unsecured revolving credit facilities with two banks in Brazil aggregating 2,900,000 Brazilian Reais (BR) (approximately
$1,316,000 at June 30, 2014), with a weighted average interest rate of 3.32% per month at June 30, 2014. There were no borrowings outstanding on any of
these facilities which are renewed automatically every three months.
The Company maintains a revolving credit facility with Barclays Bank PLC up to £550,000 (approximately $937,000 at June 30, 2014), with interest rates of
2.00% at June 30, 2014, collateralized by cross guarantees of several of the United Kingdom companies. Aggregate of all debt owing to the bank will be, at
all times, covered 3 times by the aggregate value of the UK accounts receivable less than 90 days old and excluding any receivables which are due from any
associate, subsidiary or overseas client. There were no borrowings outstanding under this facility at June 30, 2014. This facility is on demand with no fixed
expiration date. It is subject to an annual review on September 12, 2014.
At June 30, 2014, the Company had $4,621,000, of available borrowing capacity under its foreign credit agreements.
The Company also maintains relationships with other foreign banks for the issuance of letters of credit, letters of guarantee and performance bonds in a
variety of foreign currencies. At June 30, 2014, the maximum U.S. dollar equivalent of the commitments was $62,017,000 of which $17,307,000 is
outstanding.
12
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Note 8 — Supplemental Cash Flow Information
The following table provides additional cash flow information (in thousands):
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

Interest and related financing fees paid
Income taxes paid
Reduction of noncontrolling interest in connection with acquisition of an additional interest
in Engineering S.A.
Increase in additional paid in capital from issuance of shares of common stock related to
purchase of CPI
Increase in additional paid in capital from issuance of shares common stock from cashless
exercise of stock options
Reduction of noncontrolling interest in connection with acquisition of remaining
noncontrolling interest in Hill Spain
Increase in intangible assets and goodwill in connection with acquisition of BCA and
remaining noncontrolling interest in Hill Spain
Common stock issued for acquisition of BCA

$
$

7,097
6,616

$
$

5,717
5,386

$

(2,649 )

$

—

$

618

$

—

$

538

$

—

$

—

$

(1,094 )

$
$

—
—

$
$

3,026
1,072

Note 9 — Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per common share has been computed using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted
loss per common share incorporates the incremental shares issuable upon the assumed exercise of stock options, if dilutive. Dilutive stock options increased
the average common stock outstanding by approximately 2,023,000 shares for the three-month period ended June 30, 2014 and by approximately 1,386,000
shares for the six-month period ended June 30, 2014. Options to purchase 1,355,000 shares and 2,034,000 shares were excluded from the calculation of
diluted earnings (loss) per common share for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 because they were antidilutive. Stock options were
excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per common share because their effect was antidilutive for both of the three-and six-month periods ended
June 30, 2013. The total number of such shares excluded from diluted loss per common share was 5,547,000 shares for the three-month period ended June 30,
2013 and 5,303,000 shares for the six-month period ended June 30, 2013.
Note 10 — Share-Based Compensation
At June 30, 2014, the Company had 7,518,620 options outstanding with a weighted average exercise price of $4.59. During the six-month period ended
June 30, 2014, the Company granted 500,000 options which vest over a four-year period, have an exercise price of $4.35 and a contractual life of 5 years;
1,285,000 options which vest over a five-year period, have a weighted average exercise price of $4.56 and a contractual life of seven years; and 63,870
options which vested immediately, have an exercise price of $6.61 and a contractual live of five years. The aggregate fair value of the options was
$4,210,000 calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The weighted average assumptions used to calculate fair value were: expected life — 4.59
years; volatility — 62.85% and risk-free interest rate — 1.67%. During the first six months of 2014, options for 480,406 shares with a weighted average
exercise price of $2.95 were exercised and options for 424,000 shares with a weighted average exercise price of $7.67 lapsed.
During the six-month period ended June 30, 2014, the Company issued 26,475 shares of its common stock to its Non-Employee Directors. The Company
recognized compensation expense amounting to $175,000.
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During the six-month period ended June 30, 2014, employees purchased 12,136 common shares, for an aggregate purchase price of $54,000, pursuant to the
Company’s 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
The Company recognized share-based compensation expense in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations
totaling $1,129,000 and $973,000 for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and $1,927,000 and $1,583,000 for the sixmonth periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Note 11 — Stockholders’ Equity
The following table summarizes the changes in stockholders’ equity during the six months ended June 30, 2014 (in thousands):
Hill International,
Inc. Stockholders

Total

Stockholders’ equity, December 31, 2013
Net earnings
Other comprehensive earnings
Comprehensive earnings
Additional paid in capital
Acquisition of additional interest in Engineering S. A.
Treasury stock acquired
Stockholders’ equity, June 30, 2014

$

$

143,031
2,309
2,971
5,280
4,015
(3,556)
(538)
148,232

$

$

131,144
1,571
2,784
4,355
4,015
(907)
(538)
138,069

Noncontrolling
Interests

$

$

11,887
738
187
925
—
(2,649)
—
10,163

In February 2014, the Company issued 171,308 shares of its common stock aggregating $618,000 to the former shareholders of Collaborative Partners, Inc. as
payment for equity in excess of that required under the acquisition agreement.
In March 2014, the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer exercised 200,000 options with an exercise price of $2.70 through the Company on a
cashless basis. The Company withheld 112,788 shares as payment for the options and placed those shares in treasury stock. The Chairman and Chief
Executive Office received 87,212 shares from this transaction.
During the six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company received cash proceeds of $877,000 from the exercise of stock options.
On August 6, 2014, the Company sold 9,546,629 shares of its common stock in an underwritten equity offering. See Note 16 for further information.
Note 12 — Income Taxes
The effective tax rates for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 were 33.0% and 64.3%, respectively, and 41.3% and 76.1% for the sixmonth periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate represents the Company’s effective tax rate for the year based
on projected income and mix of income among the various foreign tax jurisdictions, adjusted for discrete transactions occurring during the period. The
difference in the Company’s 2014 effective tax rate compared to the 2013 effective tax rate was primarily related to the $2,514,000 reversal of the reserve for
uncertain tax positions in 2014 discussed below. The Company also recognized an income tax expense resulting from adjustments to agree the prior year’s
book amounts to the actual amounts per the tax returns totaling $44,000 and $0 for the three-month periods ending June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively,
and $44,000 and $145,000 for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. If the discrete transactions noted
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previously were excluded, the Company’s effective tax rate would have been higher in both years primarily as a result of not recording an income benefit
related to the U.S. net operating loss.
The components of earnings (loss) before income taxes and the related income tax expense by United States and foreign jurisdictions were as follows (in
thousands):
U.S.

Earnings (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense, net

$
$

(10,791)
—
U.S.

Earnings (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense, net

$
$

Three Months Ended June 30, 2014
Foreign
Total

$
$

13,800
993

$
$

Six Months Ended June 30, 2014
Foreign

(21,672)
—

$
$

25,605
1,624

$
$

3,009
993

U.S.

$
$

Total

3,933
1,624

(8,073) $
— $
U.S.

$
$

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013
Foreign
Total

11,632
2,288

$
$

3,559
2,288

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
Foreign
Total

(17,829) $
— $

23,300
4,162

$
$

5,471
4,162

The reserve for uncertain tax positions amounted to $840,000 and $2,933,000 at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, and is included in
“Other liabilities” in the consolidated balance sheet at those dates. During the three-month period ended June 30, 2014, the reserve for uncertain tax
positions was reduced by $2,514,000 based on management’s assessment that these items were effectively settled with the appropriate foreign tax authorities.
During the six-month period ended June 30, 2014, the Company also reclassified $420,000 from “Income taxes payable” to the reserve for uncertain tax
positions primarily due to tax positions taken in foreign jurisdictions. During the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2013, there were no changes in
the reserve for uncertain tax positions.
The Company’s policy is to record income tax related interest and penalties in income tax expense. At June 30, 2014, potential interest and penalties related
to uncertain tax positions amounting to $592,000 was included in the balance above.
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which
those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable income
in making this assessment. Management evaluates the need for valuation allowances on the deferred tax assets according to the provisions of
ASC740, Income Taxes. They consider both positive and negative evidence. In making this determination, management assesses all of the evidence available
at the time including recent earnings, internally-prepared income projections, and historical financial performance.
Note 13 — Business Segment Information
The Company’s business segments reflect how executive management makes resource decisions and assesses its performance. The Company bases these
decisions on the type of services provided (Project Management and Construction Claims) and secondarily by their geography (U.S./Canada, Latin America,
Europe, the Middle East, Africa and Asia/Pacific).
The Project Management business segment provides extensive construction and project management services to construction owners worldwide. Such
services include program management, project management, construction
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management, project management oversight, troubled project turnaround, staff augmentation, project labor agreement consulting, commissioning, estimating
and cost management, and labor compliance services.
The Construction Claims business segment provides such services as claims consulting, management consulting, litigation support, expert witness testimony,
cost/damages assessment, delay/disruption analysis, adjudication, lender advisory, risk management, forensic accounting, fraud investigation and Project
Neutral services to clients worldwide.
The Company evaluates the performance of its segments primarily on operating profit before corporate overhead allocations and income taxes.
The following tables reflect the required disclosures for the Company’s reportable segments (in thousands):
Consulting Fee Revenue (“CFR”)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$
$

2013

108,521
35,994
144,515

75.1% $
24.9
100.0 % $

98,979
29,448
128,427

77.1%
22.9
100.0 %

Total Revenue:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$
$

2013

122,044
37,595
159,639

76.4% $
23.6
100.0 % $

117,588
30,876
148,464

79.2%
20.8
100.0 %

Operating Profit:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

Project Management
Construction Claims
Corporate
Total

$
$

13,218
3,054
(7,617)
8,655

$
$

13,334
3,384
(6,878)
9,840

Depreciation and Amortization Expense:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

Project Management
Construction Claims
Subtotal segments
Corporate
Total

$

$
16

1,720
663
2,383
54
2,437

$

$

1,910
693
2,603
54
2,657
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Consulting Fee Revenue by Geographic Region:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

U.S./Canada
Latin America
Europe
Middle East
Africa
Asia/Pacific
Total

$

U.S.
Non-U.S.
Total

$

$

$

2013

31,708
11,064
18,948
68,867
6,020
7,908
144,515

21.9% $
7.7
13.1
47.7
4.2
5.4
100.0% $

31,914
11,613
19,948
53,662
5,408
5,882
128,427

24.8%
9.0
15.5
41.8
4.2
4.7
100.0%

30,846
113,669
144,515

21.3% $
78.7
100.0 % $

30,919
97,508
128,427

24.1%
75.9
100.0 %

For the three-month period ended June 30, 2014, consulting fee revenue for the United Arab Emirates amounted to $17,229,000 representing 11.9% of the
total and Oman’s consulting fee revenue amounted to $18,420,000 representing 12.7% of the total. No other country other than the United States accounted
for 10% or more of consolidated consulting fee revenue.
For the three-month period ended June 30, 2013, consulting fee revenue for the United Arab Emirates amounted to $16,557,000 representing 12.9% of the
total and Oman’s consulting fee revenue amounted to $12,896,000 representing 10.0% of the total. No other country except for the United States accounted
for 10% or more of consolidated consulting fee revenue.
Total Revenue by Geographic Region:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

U.S./Canada
Latin America
Europe
Middle East
Africa
Asia/Pacific
Total

$

U.S.
Non-U.S.
Total

$

$

$

2013

42,693
11,126
20,058
70,629
6,940
8,193
159,639

26.7% $
7.0
12.6
44.2
4.3
5.2
100.0% $

47,557
11,726
21,128
55,380
6,630
6,043
148,464

32.0%
7.9
14.2
37.3
4.5
4.1
100.0%

41,761
117,878
159,639

26.2% $
73.8
100.0 % $

46,505
101,959
148,464

31.3%
68.7
100.0 %
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For the three-month period ended June 30, 2014, total revenue for the United Arab Emirates amounted to $17,539,000 representing 11.0% of the total and
Oman’s total revenue amounted to $18,804,000 representing 11.8% of the total. No other country except for the United States accounted for 10% or more of
consolidated consulting fee revenue.
For the three-month period ended June 30, 2013, total revenue for the United Arab Emirates amounted to $17,104,000 representing 11.5% of the total. No
other country other than the United States accounted for 10% or more of consolidated consulting fee revenue.
Consulting Fee Revenue By Client Type:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

U.S. federal government
U.S. state, regional and local governments
Foreign governments
Private sector
Total

$

$

2013

3,242
18,698
57,527
65,048
144,515

2.2% $
12.9
39.8
45.1
100.0 % $

4,074
19,065
43,453
61,835
128,427

3.2%
14.8
33.8
48.2
100.0 %

Total Revenue By Client Type:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

U.S. federal government
U.S. state, regional and local governments
Foreign governments
Private sector
Total

$

$

2013

4,018
24,729
59,919
70,973
159,639

2.5% $
15.5
37.5
44.5
100.0 % $

4,842
27,074
45,694
70,854
148,464

3.3%
18.2
30.8
47.7
100.0 %

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net by Geographic Location:
June 30, 2014

U.S./Canada
Latin America
Europe
Middle East
Africa
Asia/Pacific
Total

$

U.S.
Non-U.S.
Total

$

$

$
18

December 31, 2013

3,501
1,643
1,924
3,411
241
440
11,160

$

3,501
7,659
11,160

$

$

$

3,837
1,351
2,575
2,167
182
501
10,613
3,837
6,776
10,613
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Consulting Fee Revenue (“CFR”)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$
$

210,309
71,455
281,764

2013

74.6% $
25.4
100.0 % $

193,977
57,006
250,983

77.3%
22.7
100.0 %

Total Revenue
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$
$

235,213
74,439
309,652

2013

76.0% $
24.0
100.0 % $

225,167
59,370
284,537

79.1%
20.9
100.0 %

Operating Profit:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

Project Management
Construction Claims
Corporate
Total

$
$

24,161
5,672
(15,178)
14,655

$
$

25,690
5,823
(14,274)
17,239

Depreciation and Amortization Expense:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

Project Management
Construction Claims
Subtotal segments
Corporate
Total

$

$
19

3,419
1,337
4,756
108
4,864

$

$

3,736
1,341
5,077
119
5,196
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Consulting Fee Revenue by Geographic Region:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

U.S./Canada
Latin America
Europe
Middle East
Africa
Asia/Pacific
Total

$

U.S.
Non-U.S.
Total

$

$

$

2013

60,999
21,812
39,387
132,002
12,284
15,280
281,764

21.6% $
7.7
14.0
46.8
4.4
5.5
100.0% $

61,275
25,171
39,562
104,477
9,430
11,068
250,983

24.4%
10.0
15.8
41.6
3.8
4.4
100.0%

59,224
222,540
281,764

21.0% $
79.0
100.0 % $

59,458
191,525
250,983

23.7%
76.3
100.0 %

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2014, consulting fee revenue for the United Arab Emirates amounted to $33,719,000 representing 12.0% of the total
and Oman’s consulting fee revenue amounted to $34,077,000 representing 12.1% of the total. No other country except the United States accounted for 10%
or more of consolidated consulting fee revenue.
For the six-month period ended June 30, 2013, consulting fee revenue for the United Arab Emirates amounted to $34,468,000 representing 13.7% of the
total. No other country except for the United States accounted for 10% or more of the consolidated consulting fee revenue.
Total Revenue by Geographic Region:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

U.S./Canada
Latin America
Europe
Middle East
Africa
Asia/Pacific
Total

$

U.S.
Non-U.S.
Total

$

$

$

2013

78,323
22,042
41,894
137,473
14,096
15,824
309,652

25.3% $
7.1
13.5
44.4
4.6
5.1
100.0% $

87,226
25,363
41,800
107,688
11,096
11,364
284,537

30.7%
8.9
14.7
37.8
3.9
4.0
100.0%

76,502
233,150
309,652

24.7% $
75.3
100.0 % $

85,325
199,212
284,537

30.0%
70.0
100.0 %
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For the six-month period ended June 30, 2014, total revenue for the United Arab Emirates amounted to $34,240,000 representing 11.1% of the total and
Oman’s total revenue amounted to $36,813,000 representing 11.9% of the total. No other country except for the United States accounted for 10% or more of
consolidated consulting fee revenue.
For the six-month period ended June 30, 2013, total revenue for the United Arab Emirates amounted to $35,358,000 representing 12.4% of the total. No
other country except for the United States accounted for 10% or more of consolidated consulting fee revenue.
Consulting Fee Revenue By Client Type:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

U.S. federal government
U.S. state, regional and local governments
Foreign governments
Private sector
Total

$

$

6,607
35,040
110,964
129,153
281,764

2013

2.3% $
12.4
39.4
45.9
100.0 % $

7,891
34,820
82,092
126,180
250,983

3.1%
13.9
32.7
50.3
100.0 %

Total Revenue By Client Type:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

U.S. federal government
U.S. state, regional and local governments
Foreign governments
Private sector
Total

$

$

7,870
45,829
117,665
138,288
309,652

2013

2.5% $
14.8
38.0
44.7
100.0 % $

9,182
51,921
85,926
137,508
284,537

3.2%
18.2
30.2
48.4
100.0 %

Note 14 — Client Concentrations
The Company had one client, located in Oman, that accounted for 11% of total revenue and 12% of consulting fee revenue during the three-month period
ended June 30, 2014. No other client accounted for 10% or more of total revenue or consulting fee revenue for the three-month period ended June 30, 2013.
The Company had one client, located in Oman, that accounted for 10% of total revenue and 11% of consulting fee revenue for the six-month period ended
June 30, 2014. No other client accounted for 10% or more of total revenue or consulting fee revenue for the six-month period ended June 30, 2013.
One client, located in Libya, accounted for 21% and 25% of accounts receivable at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013.
The Company has numerous contracts with U.S. federal government agencies that collectively accounted for 3% of total revenue during each of the threemonth periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 and 3% of total revenue during each of the six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.
Note 15 — Commitments and Contingencies
General Litigation
M.A. Angeliades, Inc. (“Plaintiff”) has filed a complaint with the Supreme Court of New York against the Company and the New York City Department of
Design and Construction (“DDC”) regarding payment of approximately $8,771,000 for work performed as a subcontractor to the Company plus interest and
other cost. The Company has accrued approximately
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$2,340,000, including interest of $448,000, based on invoices received from Plaintiff who has refused to provide invoices for additional work that Plaintiff
claims to have performed. Until such time as the Company obtains invoices for the additional work and is able to provide those invoices to DDC for
reimbursement or there is a full resolution of the litigation, it has no intention of paying Plaintiff. The Company believes that its position is defensible,
however, there can be no assurance that it will receive a favorable verdict should this case proceed to trial.
From time to time, the Company is a defendant or plaintiff in various legal actions which arise in the normal course of business. As such the Company is
required to assess the likelihood of any adverse outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of the
provision required for these commitments and contingencies, if any, which would be charged to earnings, is made after careful analysis of each matter. The
provision may change in the future due to new developments or changes in circumstances. Changes in the provision could increase or decrease the
Company’s earnings in the period the changes are made. It is the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, that the ultimate resolution of
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Acquisition—Related Contingencies
Hill Spain acquired an indirect 60% interest in Engineering S.A. (“ESA”), a firm located in Brazil. ESA’s shareholders entered into an agreement whereby the
minority shareholders have a right to compel (“ESA Put Option”) Hill Spain to purchase any or all of their shares during the period from February 28, 2014 to
July 31, 2021. Hill Spain also has the right to compel (“ESA Call Option”) the minority shareholders to sell any or all of their shares during the same time
period. The purchase price for such shares shall be seven times the earnings before interest and taxes for ESA’s most recently ended fiscal year, net of any
financial debt plus excess cash multiplied by a percentage which the shares to be purchased bear to the total number of shares outstanding at the time of
purchase, but in the event the ESA Call Option is exercised by Hill Spain, the purchase price shall be increased by five percent. The ESA Put Option and the
ESA Call Option must be made within three months after the audited financial statements of ESA have been completed. In April 2014, two of the minority
shareholders exercised their ESA Put Option whereby Hill Spain will pay approximately 7,838,000 Brazilian Reais (approximately $3,556,000 at June 30,
2014). After the transaction is completed, Hill Spain will own approximately 72% of ESA. Payment of the liability is expected in late August 2014. In
accordance with the guidance in ASC 810-10-45-23, under Changes in the Parent’s Ownership Interest in a Subsidiary When There Is No Change in
Control, the Company has accounted for this transaction as an equity transaction. Accordingly, Hill Spain accrued the liability of 7,838,000 Brazilian Reais
which is in other current liabilities, reduced noncontrolling interests by 5,839,000 Brazilian Reais (approximately $2,649,000), and reduced additional paid
in capital by approximately 1,999,000 Brazilian Reais (approximately $907,000) which represents the excess of the fair value over the amount of the
adjustment to noncontrolling interests.
The Company is committed to issue shares of its common stock to the former shareholders of BCA in satisfaction of the Third Tranche Payment, the amount
of which will be determined in late August 2014.
The Company is committed to issue shares of its common stock to the former shareholders of CPI for certain contingent consideration. The number of shares
will be determined at various times during 2014. In connection therewith, on March 7, 2014, the Company issued 171,308 shares of its common stock with a
value of $618,000 representing CPI’s common equity in excess of $600,000.
Note 16 — Subsequent Events
Amendments to Credit Facilities
On July 25, 2014, the Company entered into a Second Amendment and Limited Waiver to Credit Agreement for its existing Term Loan and a Fifth
Amendment and Limited Waiver to Credit Agreement for its existing Revolving Credit Agreement. Under these amendments, the Lenders agreed, among
other things, to permit the Company to sell its common stock through a follow-on offering resulting in receipt by the Company of net proceeds aggregating
not less than $30,000,000.
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Follow-On Equity Offering
On August 6, 2014, the Company sold 9,546,629 shares of its common stock at $4.25 per share, less an underwriting discount, in an underwritten equity
offering which raised gross proceeds of approximately $40,573,000. Included in this transaction are 1,046,629 shares of common stock out of a total
1,275,000 common shares available from the underwriters’ overallotment option. After the underwriting discount and expenses of the offering, the Company
received net proceeds aggregating approximately $38,090,000. As required under the Commitment Letter regarding the Secured Credit Facilities (see
below), the Company intends to keep $10,000,000 of the net proceeds of the offering as cash or cash equivalents until the closing of the Secured Credit
Facilities and use the balance of the net proceeds to repay certain of its obligations and repay a portion of outstanding borrowings under its Existing Credit
Agreement and Existing Term Loan. Upon the closing of the Secured Credit Facilities, the Company intends to use the above-referenced $10,000,000 of the
net proceeds of the offering for general working capital purposes.
Debt Refinancing
On June 12, 2014, the Company and its subsidiary Hill International N.V.(the “Subsidiary”) and together with the Company, the “Borrowers,” entered into a
Commitment Letter with Société Générale (the “Agent”) and SG Americas Securities, LLC (the “Arranger”) and together with the Agent and any other entity
that becomes a lender under the Secured Credit Facilities (as described below), the “Lenders,” pursuant to which the Arranger and the Agent committed,
subject to the conditions and other terms and provisions of the Commitment Letter, to provide secured debt facilities to the Company in an aggregate
principal amount of $165,000,000.
The debt facilities would consist of (i) a term loan facility of $120,000,000 (the “Term Loan Facility”), and (ii) revolving credit facilities totaling
$45,000,000 consisting of: (A) a $30,000,000 U.S. dollar-denominated facility to be made available to the Company ( the “U.S. Revolver”) and (B) a
$15,000,000 Euro-denominated facility to be made available to Subsidiary (the “International Revolver”) and together with the U.S. Revolver, the
“Revolving Credit Facilities” and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Secured Credit Facilities.” The Revolving Credit Facilities would include a
$35,000,000 sub-limit for letters of credit with $25,000,000 allocated to the U.S. Revolver and $10,000,000 allocated to the International Revolver. The
commitment is subject to the satisfaction of all specified conditions on or before September 10, 2014 and is currently expected to close during August 2014.
The Company would be required to use the proceeds from the Term Loan Facility:
·

·
·

for consummating the payoff and termination of its existing credit arrangements (the “Refinancing”) which consist of the Credit
Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2012, among the Company, certain lenders and Obsidian Agency Services, Inc., as amended, (the
“Existing Term Loan”) and the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2009, among the Company, Bank of America, N.A. and certain other
lenders, as amended (the “Existing Credit Agreement”);
to pay fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Secured Credit Facilities; and
thereafter for general corporate purposes.

The Company would be required to use the proceeds from the Revolving Credit Facilities:
·
·
·
·

for the Refinancing;
to finance the working capital needs and general corporate purposes of the Borrowers and their subsidiaries;
to pay fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Secured Credit Facilities; and
for any other purposes not prohibited by the Secured Credit Facilities.

The Term Loan Facility would have a term of six years, require repayment of 1.0% of the original principal amount annually for the first five years and be
fully funded upon closing. Any amounts repaid on the Term Loan Facility would not be available to be re-borrowed. The Revolving Credit Facilities would
have a term of five years and require payment of interest only during the term. Under the Revolving Credit Facilities, outstanding loans would be able to be
repaid in whole or in part at any time, without premium or penalty (except customary breakage costs), subject to certain customary limitations, and would be
available to be reborrowed from time to time.
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The interest rate on the Term Loan Facility would be, at the Borrower’s option (subject to customary provisions or limitations), either:
·
·

the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, or “LIBOR,” for the relevant interest period plus a range of 6.50% to 6.75% per annum, provided that
such LIBOR shall not be lower than 1.00% per annum; or
a Base Rate (as described below) plus a range of 5.50% to 5.75% per annum.

The interest rate on borrowings under the U.S. Revolver would be, at the Borrower’s option (subject to customary provisions or limitations), either:
·
·

the LIBOR for the relevant interest period plus 3.75% per annum; or
a Base Rate (as described below) plus 2.75% per annum.

The interest rate on borrowings under the International Revolver would be, at the Borrower’s option (subject to customary provisions or limitations), either:
·
·

the European Inter-Bank Offered Rate, or “EURIBOR,” for the relevant interest period plus 4.00% per annum; or
a Base Rate (as described below) plus 3.00% per annum.

The “Base Rate” is the highest of (A) the prime rate, (B) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5%, or (C) the LIBOR for an interest period of one month plus
1.0% per annum. Upon a default, the applicable rate of interest under the Secured Credit Facilities may increase by 2.0%. The LIBOR on the Term Loan
Facilities (including when determining the Base Rate) shall in no event be less than 1.0%.
The Borrowers would pay a commitment fee calculated from and after the closing date at 0.50% annually on the average daily unused portion of the U.S.
Revolver and 0.75% annually on the average daily unused portion of the International Revolver.
The ability to borrow under each of the U.S. Revolver and the International Revolver would be subject to a “borrowing base,” calculated using a formula
based upon approximately 85% of receivables that meet or satisfy certain criteria (“Eligible Receivables”) that are subject to a perfected security interest,
plus, in the case of the International Revolver only, 10% of Eligible Receivables that are not subject to a perfected security interest, subject to certain
exceptions and restrictions.
The Term Loan Facility and the U.S. Revolver would be guaranteed by the U.S. subsidiaries of the Company (subject to certain limitations), and the
International Revolver would be guaranteed by the Company and the Company’s U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries (subject to certain limitations).
The Term Loan Facility would generally be secured by a first-priority security interest in substantially all assets of the Company and the Company’s U.S.
subsidiaries (subject to certain limitations) other than accounts receivable and bank accounts, as to which the Term Loan Facility will be secured by a
second-priority security interest. Generally, the obligations of the Borrowers under the U.S. Revolver would be secured by a first-priority security interest in
the accounts receivable and bank accounts of the Company and the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries (subject to certain limitations), and a second-priority
security interest in substantially all other assets of the Company and the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries (subject to certain limitations). The obligations of the
Subsidiary under the International Revolver generally would be secured by a first-priority security interest in the accounts receivable and bank accounts of
the Subsidiary and the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries (subject to certain limitations), and a second-priority security interest in substantially all other assets
of the Company and the Company’s U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries (subject to certain limitations).
The Company would have the right to prepay the Term Loan Facility in full or in part at any time without premium or penalty (except customary breakage
costs); provided, however, that upon the occurrence of prepayments relating to certain repricing transactions (as well as certain other repricing transactions)
within the first year following closing, a 1% prepayment premium would be payable. The Company would be required to make mandatory prepayments of
the Term Loan Facility without premium or penalty (except customary breakage costs) (i) with net proceeds of any issuance or incurrence of indebtedness by
the Company after the closing, (ii) with net proceeds from certain asset sales outside the ordinary course of business, and (iii) with 50% of the excess cash
flow for each fiscal year of the Borrowers commencing
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with the first full fiscal year ending after closing which may be stepped down upon the achievement and maintenance of certain metrics; provided, however,
that upon the occurrence any repricing transaction in respect of certain mandatory prepayments within the first year following closing, a 1% prepayment
premium would be payable. The Company or the Subsidiary, as applicable, would be required to make mandatory prepayments of their respective Revolving
Credit Facilities to the extent that the aggregate outstanding amount thereunder would exceed the then-applicable borrowing base, which payments would be
made without penalty or premium (except customary breakage costs).
There are a number of conditions to the Lenders’ obligation to provide the Secured Credit Facilities, including the Refinancing and the documentation of the
Secured Credit Facilities.
The Secured Credit Facilities would also contain customary default provisions, representations and warranties, and restrictive covenants. The Secured Credit
Facilities will also require the Company to comply with a consolidated total leverage ratio.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, within sixty days of the closing date of the Secured Credit Facilities, the Arranger may exercise certain customary rights to
change the proposed terms, including the ability to increase the interest rates. Thus, while the above is a summary of the expected terms of the Secured Credit
Facilities, final terms of the Secured Credit Facilities may differ from those set forth above, and, in certain circumstances, these differences may be significant.
The Company currently anticipates that closing of the new Secured Credit Facilities and the Refinancing will occur in August 2014; however the Company
cannot provide assurance that either the closing of the new Secured Credit Facilities or the Refinancing will be completed. If the Refinancing does occur, the
Company will incur for the three- and nine-month periods ending September 30, 2014 a one-time interest charge amounting to approximately $11,279,000
for the difference between the face value and the accreted value of its Existing Term Loan plus $1,502,000 due to the write-off of deferred financing costs
associated with the Existing Credit Agreement and the Existing Term Loan.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
We make forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We use forward-looking works such as
“may,” “except,” “anticipate,” “contemplate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” and “continue” or similar words. You should read statements that contain
these words carefully because they discuss future expectations, contain projections of future results of operations or financial condition or state other
“forward-looking” information. However, there may be events in the future that we are not able to predict accurately or over which we have no control.
Examples or risks, uncertainties and events that may cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations described by us in such forwardlooking statements include those described in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 14, 2014 (the “2013 Annual Report”). You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. All forward-looking statements included herein attributable to use are expressly
qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. Except to the extent required by applicable laws and
regulations, we undertake no obligations to update these forward-looking statements.
References to “the Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Hill International, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
Overview
Our revenue consists of two components: consulting fee revenue (“CFR”) and reimbursable expenses. Reimbursable expenses are reflected in equal amounts
in both total revenue and total direct expenses. Because these pass-through revenue/costs are subject to significant fluctuation from year to year, we measure
the performance of many of our key operating metrics as a percentage of CFR, as we believe that this is a better and more consistent measure of operating
performance than total revenue.
CFR increased $16,088,000, or 12.5%, to $144,515,000 during the second quarter of 2014 from $128,427,000 during the second quarter of 2013. CFR for
the Project Management segment increased $9,542,000, principally due to increased work in the Middle East, primarily Oman, Qatar and Iraq. CFR for the
Construction Claims segment increased by $6,546,000, due primarily to increases in the Middle East, Asia/Pacific and South Africa.
CFR increased $30,781,000, or 12.3%, to $281,764,000 during the first half ended June 30, 2014 from $250,983,000 during the first half ended June 30,
2013. CFR for the Project Management segment increased $16,332,000, principally due to increased work in the Middle East, primarily Oman, Qatar and
Iraq. CFR for the Construction Claims segment increased by $14,449,000, due primarily to increases in the United Kingdom, Asia/Pacific, South Africa and
the Middle East.
Net earnings attributable to Hill were $1,518,000 during the second quarter of 2014 compared to net earnings of $719,000 during the second quarter of
2013. Diluted earnings per common share was $0.04 during the second quarter of 2014 based upon 42,591,000 diluted common shares outstanding
compared to a diluted earnings per common share of $0.02 during the second quarter ended 2013 based upon 38,943,000 diluted common shares
outstanding.
Net earnings attributable to Hill were $1,571,000 during the first half ended June 30, 2014 compared to net earnings of $339,000 during the first half ended
June 30, 2013. Diluted earnings per common share was $0.04 during the first half ended June 30, 2014 based upon 41,570,000 diluted common shares
outstanding compared to a diluted earnings per common share of $0.01 during the first half ended June 30, 2013 based upon 38,950,000 diluted common
shares outstanding.
We have open but inactive contracts in Libya. During late 2013 and early 2014, we received payments of approximately $9,900,000 from our client, the
Libyan Organization for the Development of Administrative Centres (“ODAC”), for work performed prior to March 2011. The remaining accounts receivable
balance with ODAC is now approximately $50,100,000. Since the end of the Libyan civil unrest in October 2011, the Company has sought to recover its
receivable
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from ODAC through ongoing negotiations rather than pursue its legal rights for payment under the contracts. The Company continues to believe that this
course of action provides the best likelihood for recovery as it could result in completion of and payment on the existing contracts as well as the potential for
the award of new contracts. There is at present no formal agreement, understanding or timetable for further payments of Hill’s accounts receivable from
ODAC or a return to work on Hill’s existing contracts. However management believes that these payments, along with standby letters of credit of
approximately $14,000,000 posted in our favor by ODAC, were made in good faith and are a positive indication that ODAC intends to satisfy its obligations
to Hill. Currently, the Company and ODAC are in the process of extending the standby letters of credit for an additional six-month term. However, the
Company cannot predict with certainty when, or if, the remaining accounts receivable will be paid by the Libyan authorities or when work will resume there.
Despite continuing global economic uncertainty and current limits to financial credit, we remain optimistic about maintaining our current growth strategy to
pursue new business development opportunities, continue to take advantage of organic growth opportunities, continue to pursue acquisitions and strengthen
our professional resources. Among other things, our optimism stems from the high level of our backlog which amounted to $972,000,000 at June 30, 2014.
Our 12-month backlog on that date was a record $404,000,000.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Regulation G, conditions for use of Non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“Non-GAAP”) financial measures, and other SEC regulations define and
prescribe the conditions for use of certain Non-GAAP financial information. Generally, a Non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company’s
performance, financial position or cash flow that either excludes or includes amounts that are not normally excluded or included in the most directly
comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. We believe earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”), in addition to operating profit, net earnings and other GAAP measures, is a useful indicator of our financial and operating performance and our
ability to generate cash flows from operations that are available for taxes, capital expenditures and debt service. This measure, however, should be considered
in addition to, and not as a substitute or superior to, operating profit, cash flows, or other measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with
GAAP. The following table is a reconciliation of EBITDA to the most directly comparable GAAP measure in accordance with SEC Regulation S-K for the
three-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

Net earnings
Interest expense, net
Income tax expense
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA

$

$

1,518
5,646
993
2,437
10,594

$

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2014
2013

719
6,281
2,288
2,657
11,945

$

$

1,571
10,722
1,624
4,864
18,781

$

$

339
11,768
4,162
5,196
21,465

Critical Accounting Policies
We operate through two segments: the Project Management Group and the Construction Claims Group. Reimbursable expenses are reflected in equal
amounts in both total revenue and total direct expenses. Because these revenues/costs are subject to significant fluctuation from year to year, we measure the
performance of many of our key operating metrics as a percentage of consulting fee revenue (“CFR”), as we believe that this is a better and more consistent
measure of operating performance than total revenue.
The Company’s interim financial statements were prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles, which require
management to make subjective decisions, assessments and estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. As the number of variables and
assumptions affecting the judgment increases, such judgments become even more subjective. While management believes its assumptions are reasonable and
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appropriate, actual results may be materially different than estimated. The critical accounting estimates and assumptions have not materially changed from
those identified in the Company’s 2013 Annual Report.
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2014 Compared to
Three Months Ended June 30, 2013
Results of Operations
Consulting Fee Revenue (“CFR”)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$
$

108,521
35,994
144,515

2013
(dollars in thousands)

75.1% $
24.9
100.0 % $

98,979
29,448
128,427

Change

77.1% $
22.9
100.0 % $

9,542
6,546
16,088

9.6%
22.2
12.5%

The increase in CFR included an organic increase of 10.6% primarily in the Middle East and an increase of 1.9% due to the acquisition of Binnington
Copeland & Associates (“BCA”) in May 2013 and Collaborative Partners, Inc. (“CPI”) in December 2013.
The increase in Project Management CFR included an organic increase of 8.1% and an increase of 1.5% from the acquisition of CPI. The increase in CFR
consisted of a $10,123,000 increase in foreign projects and a decrease of $581,000 in domestic projects. The increase in foreign Project Management CFR
included an increase of $5,141,000 in Oman, $3,396,000 in Qatar and $2,300,000 in Iraq. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $1,230,000 in
Brazil. The decrease in domestic Project Management CFR was due primarily to decreases in our Southern and Western regions, partially offset by an increase
in our Northeast region due to the acquisition of CPI.
The increase in Construction Claims CFR was comprised of an organic increase of 18.9% and a 3.3% increase from the acquisition of BCA. The organic
increase was primarily due to increases in the Asia/Pacific and the Middle East.
Reimbursable Expenses
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$
$

13,523
1,601
15,124

2013
(dollars in thousands)

89.4% $
10.6
100.0 % $

18,609
1,428
20,037

Change

92.9% $
7.1
100.0 % $

(5,086)
173
(4,913 )

(27.3)%
12.1
(24.5)%

Reimbursable expenses consist of amounts paid to subcontractors and other third parties, and travel and other job-related expenses that are contractually
reimbursable from clients. These items are reflected as separate line items in both our total revenue and total direct expenses captions in our consolidated
statements of operations. The decrease in Project Management reimbursable expenses was primarily due to lower use of subcontractors in our Northeast
region.
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Cost of Services
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

2013
(dollars in thousands)
% of
CFR

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$

67,298
15,948
83,246

$

80.8%
19.2
100.0 %

Change
% of
CFR

62.0% $
44.3
57.6% $

62,589
12,768
75,357

83.1%
16.9
100.0 %

63.2% $
43.4
58.7% $

4,709
3,180
7,889

7.5%
24.9
10.5%

Cost of services consists of labor expenses for time charged directly to contracts and non-reimbursable job-related travel and out-of-pocket expenses. The
increase in Project Management cost of services is primarily due to increases in the Middle East in support of increased work in Oman, Qatar and Iraq and to a
lesser degree to the CPI acquisition, partially offset by a decrease in Brazil.
The increase in the cost of services for Construction Claims was due primarily to increases in direct cost in the Middle East, the United Kingdom, Asia/Pacific
and South Africa (due to the BCA acquisition).
Gross Profit
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

2013
(dollars in thousands)
% of
CFR

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$

41,223
20,046
61,269

$

67.3%
32.7
100 %

Change
% of
CFR

38.0% $
55.7
42.4% $

36,390
16,680
53,070

68.6%
31.4
100.0 %

36.8% $
56.6
41.3% $

4,833
3,366
8,199

13.3%
20.2
15.4%

The increase in Project Management gross profit included an increase of $5,573,000 from international operations, primarily due to increases from the
Middle East, principally Oman and Qatar.
The increase in Construction Claims gross profit was driven by increases in Asia/Pacific, the Middle East and South Africa.
The overall gross profit percentage increased due to higher margins achieved on new work in the Middle East, primarily Oman and Qatar for Project
Management.
Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

2013
(dollars in thousands)
% of
CFR

% of
CFR

SG&A Expenses

$

52,614

36.4% $

43,230

Change

33.7% $

9,384

21.7%

The significant components of the change in SG&A are as follows:
·

An increase of $5,531,000 in unapplied labor primarily due to the impact of new hires, salary increases and a decrease in utilization. There was an
increase of approximately $1,643,000 primarily for new staff required on increased work volume in the Middle East for Project Management and in
Asia/Pacific for Construction Claims, an increase of approximately $1,014,000 for new staff hired in the Middle East for Construction Claims in
anticipation of expanded work which started later than anticipated and an increase of $860,000 in the United
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States Project Management group due to a decrease in utilization. Unapplied labor also increased by approximately $422,000 due to the
acquisitions of BCA and CPI;
·

An increase of $1,089,000 in indirect labor primarily due to raises, new hires for business development in the United States Project Management
group and increased corporate bonus accruals;

·

A net increase of $2,603,000 resulting from the elimination in 2013 of a 2012 reserve for potential employment tax liabilities for a foreign
subsidiary which was later indemnified by the former majority shareholders of the subsidiary, partially offset by an increase in the second
installment payment for the purchase of ESA.

Operating Profit
Three Months Ended June 30,
2014

2013
(dollars in thousands)
% of
CFR

% of
CFR

Project Management
Construction Claims
Corporate
Total

$

$

13,218
3,054
(7,617)
8,655

12.2% $
8.5
6.0% $

13,334
3,384
(6,878)
9,840

Change

13.5% $
11.5
7.7% $

(116)
(330)
(739)
(1,185 )

(0.9)%
(9.8)
10.7
(12.0)%

The decrease in Project Management operating profit included decreases in the United States and Brazil, partially offset by increases in the Middle East
primarily Oman and Qatar.
The decrease in Construction Claims operating profit was primarily due to decreases in the United Kingdom and the Middle East, partially offset by increases
in Asia/Pacific and South Africa.
Corporate expenses increased by $739,000 primarily due to salary increases and information technology cost in support of growing operations overseas.
Interest Expense and Related Financing Fees, net
Net interest and related financing fees decreased $635,000 to $5,646,000 in the three-months ended June 30, 2014 as compared with $6,281,000 in the threemonths ended June 30, 2013 including a decrease of $331,000 primarily due to lower rates under the Credit Agreement as a result of an improved leverage
ratio. In addition, financing related legal and administrative fees decreased by $531,000, partially offset by an increase of $204,000 in accretion expense on
the Term Loan.
Income Taxes
For the three-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, the Company recognized an income tax expense of $993,000 and $2,288,000, respectively. The
income tax expense in both periods was related to the pre-tax income generated from foreign operations without recognizing an income tax benefit related to
the U.S. net operating loss which management believes the Company will not be able to utilize. For the three months ended June 30, 2014, the Company
recognized a $2,514,000 income tax benefit related to the reversal of the reserve for uncertain tax positions based on management’s assessment that these
items were effectively settled with the appropriate foreign tax authorities. During the three-month period ended June 30, 2013, there were no changes in the
reserve for uncertain tax positions. The Company’s income tax expense for the three months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 included tax expense of $44,000
and $0, respectively, resulting from adjustments to agree the prior year book amount to the actual amounts per the tax return.
The effective income tax rates for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 were 33.0% and 64.3%, respectively. The decrease in the
Company’s effective tax rate in 2014 was primarily related to the $2,514,000 reversal of the reserve for uncertain tax positions discussed above.
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Net Earnings Attributable to Hill International, Inc.
Net earnings attributable to Hill International, Inc. for the three-months ended June 30, 2014 were $1,518,000, or $0.04 per diluted common share, based on
42,591,000 diluted common shares outstanding, as compared to net earnings for the three-months ended June 30, 2013 of $719,000, or $0.02 per diluted
common share, based upon 38,943,000 diluted common shares outstanding. The primary reasons for the change are due to an increase in gross profit and a
decrease in income tax expense partially offset by an increase in SG&A expenses.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2014 Compared to
Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
Results of Operations
Consulting Fee Revenue (“CFR”)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$
$

210,309
71,455
281,764

2013
(dollars in thousands)

74.6% $
25.4
100.0 % $

193,977
57,006
250,983

Change

77.3% $
22.7
100.0 % $

16,332
14,449
30,781

8.4%
25.3
12.3%

The increase in CFR included an organic increase of 10.3% primarily in the Middle East and an increase of 2.0% due to the acquisitions of BCA in May 2013
and CPI in December 2013.
The increase in Project Management CFR included an organic increase of 7.0% and an increase of 1.4% from the acquisition of CPI. The increase in CFR
consisted of a $17,673,000 increase in foreign projects and a decrease of $1,341,000 in domestic projects. The increase in foreign Project Management CFR
included an increase of $10,843,000 in Oman, $6,435,000 in Qatar and $4,787,000 in Iraq. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $5,490,000
in Brazil. The decrease in domestic Project Management CFR was due primarily to decreases in our Southern and Western regions, partially offset by an
increase in our Northeast region due to the acquisition of CPI.
The increase in Construction Claims CFR was comprised of an organic increase of 21.6% and a 3.7% increase from the acquisition of BCA. The organic
increase was primarily due to increases in Asia/Pacific, the United Kingdom, South Africa and the Middle East.
Reimbursable Expenses
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$
$

24,904
2,984
27,888

2013
(dollars in thousands)

89.3% $
10.7
100.0 % $

31,190
2,364
33,554

Change

93.0% $
7.0
100.0 % $

(6,286)
620
(5,666 )

(20.2)%
26.2
(16.9)%

Reimbursable expenses consist of amounts paid to subcontractors and other third parties, and travel and other job-related expenses that are contractually
reimbursable from clients. These items are reflected as separate line items in both our total revenue and total direct expenses captions in our consolidated
statements of operations. The decrease in Project Management reimbursable expense is primarily due to lower use of subcontractors in our Northeast region,
partially offset by increased subcontractors in Oman. The increase in Construction Claims reimbursable expenses was due primarily to increases in the United
Kingdom due to subcontractors and other reimbursable expenses associated with the increased work volume.
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Cost of Services
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

2013
(dollars in thousands)
% of
CFR

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$

130,050
31,786
161,836

$

80.4%
19.6
100.0 %

Change
% of
CFR

61.8% $
44.5
57.4% $

122,862
25,193
148,055

83.0%
17.0
100.0 %

63.3% $
44.2
59.0% $

7,188
6,593
13,781

5.9%
26.2
9.3%

Cost of services consists of labor expenses for time charged directly to contracts and non-reimbursable job-related travel and out-of-pocket expenses. The
increase in Project Management cost of services is primarily due to increases in the Middle East in support of increased work in Oman, Qatar and Iraq and to a
lesser degree to the CPI acquisition, partially offset by decreases in Brazil.
The increase in the cost of services for Construction Claims was due primarily to increases in direct cost in the United Kingdom, Asia/Pacific, the Middle East
and South Africa (due to the BCA acquisition).
Gross Profit
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

2013
(dollars in thousands)
% of
CFR

Project Management
Construction Claims
Total

$

80,259
39,669
119,928

$

66.9%
33.1
100.0 %

Change
% of
CFR

38.2% $
55.5
42.6% $

71,115
31,813
102,928

69.1%
30.9
100.0 %

36.7% $
55.8
41.0% $

9,144
7,856
17,000

12.9%
24.7
16.5%

The increase in Project Management gross profit included an increase of $9,972,000 from international operations, primarily due to increases from the
Middle East, principally Oman, Qatar and Iraq, partially offset by a decrease in Brazil.
The increase in Construction Claims gross profit was driven by increases in the United Kingdom, Asia/Pacific and South Africa.
The overall gross profit percentage increased due higher margins achieved on new work in the Middle East, primarily Oman, Qatar and Saudi Arabia for
Project Management.
Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014

2013
(dollars in thousands)
% of
CFR

% of
CFR

SG&A Expenses

$

105,273

37.4% $

85,689

Change

34.1% $

19,584

22.9%

The significant components of the change in SG&A are as follows:
·

An increase of $10,610,000 in unapplied labor primarily due to the impact of new hires, salary increases and a decrease in utilization. There
was an increase of approximately $4,327,000 for new staff required on increased work volume in the Middle East for Project Management and
in the United Kingdom and Asia/
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·
·

Pacific for Construction Claims, an increase of approximately $2,198,000 primarily for new staff hired in the Middle East for Construction
Claims in anticipation of expanded work which started later than anticipated and an increase of $1,445,000 in the United States Project
Management Group due to decreased utilization. Unapplied labor also increased by approximately $738,000 due to the acquisitions of BCA
and CPI;
An increase of $3,832,000 primarily due to raises, new hires for business development in the Project Management Group and increased
corporate bonus accruals;
An increase of $3,683,000 resulting from the elimination in 2013 of a 2012 reserve for potential employment tax liabilities for a foreign
subsidiary which was later indemnified by the former majority shareholders of the subsidiary.

Operating Profit
Six Months Ended June 30,
2014
% of
CFR

(in thousands)

Project Management
Construction Claims
Corporate
Total

2013
(dollars in thousands)
% of
CFR

$

$

24,161
5,672
(15,178)
14,655

11.5% $
7.9
5.2% $

25,690
5,823
(14,274)
17,239

Change

13.2% $
10.2
6.9% $

(1,529)
(151)
(904)
(2,584 )

(6.0)%
(2.6)
6.3
N.M.

The decrease in Project Management operating profit included decreases in the United States and Brazil, partially offset by increases in the Middle East
primarily Oman, Qatar and Iraq.
The decrease in Construction Claims operating profit was primarily due to a decrease in the Middle East, partially offset by an increase in Asia/Pacific and
South Africa.
Corporate expenses increased by $904,000 which was primarily due to salary increases and information technology costs in support of growing operations
overseas.
Interest Expense and Related Financing Fees, net
Interest and related financing fees decreased $1,046,000 to $10,722,000 in the six-month period ended June 30, 2014 compared to $11,768,000 in the sixmonth period ended June 30, 2013 including a decrease of $567,000 primarily due to lower rates under the Credit Agreement as a result of an improved
leverage ratio. In addition, financing related legal and administrative fees decreased by $702,000, partially offset by an increase of $400,000 in accretion
expense on the Term Loan.
Income Taxes
For the six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, the Company recognized an income tax expense of $1,624,000 and $4,162,000, respectively. The
income tax expense in both periods was related to the pre-tax income generated from foreign operations without recognizing an income tax benefit related to
the U.S. net operating loss which management believes the Company will not be able to utilize. For the six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company
recognized a $2,514,000 income tax benefit related to the reversal of the reserve for uncertain tax positions based on management’s assessment that these
items were effectively settled with the appropriate foreign tax authorities and also reclassified $420,000 from “Income taxes payable” to the reserve for
uncertain tax positions primarily due to tax positions taken in foreign jurisdictions. During the six month period ended June 30, 2013, there were no changes
in the reserve for uncertain tax positions. The Company also recognized an income tax expense resulting from adjustments to agree the prior year’s book
amounts to the actual amounts per the tax returns totaling $44,000 and $145,000 in the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
The effective income tax rates for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 were 41.3% and 76.1%,
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respectively. The decrease in the Company’s effective tax rate was primarily related to the $2,514,000 reversal of the reserve for uncertain tax positions
discussed above.
Net Earnings Attributable to Hill International, Inc.
Net earnings attributable to Hill International, Inc. for the six-month period ended June 30, 2014 were $1,571,000, or $0.04 per diluted common share, based
upon 41,570,000 diluted common shares outstanding, as compared to net earnings for the six-month period ended June 30, 2013 of $339,000, or $0.01 per
diluted common share based, upon 38,950,000 diluted common shares outstanding. The primary reasons for the change are due to an increase in gross profit
and a decrease in income tax expense partially offset by an increase in SG&A expenses.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As a result of the worldwide financial situation in recent years as well as the political unrest in Libya, we have had to rely more heavily on borrowings under
our various credit facilities to provide funding for our operations. On May 23, 2013, the Company entered into a Fourth Amendment to our Credit
Agreement which permitted the Company to enter into an agreement with Qatar National Bank for the issuance of letters of credit (“LCs”) not to exceed
$17,000,000, increased the limit on LCs available to the Company’s foreign subsidiaries who are not loan parties from $4,000,000 to $11,800,000 and
permits the Company to provide up to $20,000,000 as cash collateral for letters of credit and performance bonds. On the same day in May 2013, the
Company entered into a First Amendment to the Term Loan Agreement. The First Amendment contains identical provisions as those in the Fourth
Amendment to our Credit Agreement. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for a description of our credit facilities and Term Loan. At
June 30, 2014, our primary sources of liquidity consisted of $26,847,000 of cash and cash equivalents, of which $1,314,000 was on deposit in the U.S. and
$25,533,000 was on deposit in foreign locations, and $7,491,000 of available borrowing capacity under our various credit facilities. Approximately
$13,300,000 of the cash on deposit in foreign locations is required for working capital needs in those countries and the currency limitations related to Libyan
dinars. We believe that we have sufficient liquidity to support the reasonably anticipated cash needs of our operations over the next twelve months.
However, our ability to borrow additional funds or obtain letters of credit is limited by the terms of our current Credit Agreement. Also, significant unforeseen
events, such as termination or cancellation of major contracts, could adversely affect our liquidity and results of operations. We are actively pursuing
alternative sources of financing in our efforts to replace both our Credit Agreement, which expires on March 31, 2015, and our Term Loan which is due on
October 18, 2016. In that regard, we entered into a Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver to Credit Agreement for our existing Revolving Credit Agreement
and a Second Amendment and Limited Waiver to Credit Agreement for our existing Term Loan. Under these amendments, the Lenders agreed, among other
things, to permit the Company to sell its common stock through a follow-on offering resulting in receipt by the Company of net proceeds aggregating not
less than $30,000,000. See “Sources of Additional Capital” for further information.
Uncertainties With Respect to Operations in Libya
We have open but inactive contracts in Libya. Due to the political unrest which commenced in February 2011, we suspended our operations in and
demobilized substantially all of our personnel from Libya.
In late 2013, the Company’s accounts receivable related to the work performed prior to March 2011 pursuant to contracts with the Libyan government was
reduced by approximately $3,100,000 which included a payment of approximately 3,000,000 Libyan dinars (“LYD”). In early 2014, the Company received
additional payments of approximately $6,800,000 consisting of approximately 200,000 pounds sterling ($300,000), approximately LYD 2,100,000
($1,700,000) and $4,800,000 in U.S. dollars. At June 30, 2014, the remaining accounts receivable outstanding amounted to approximately $50,100,000.
The LYD cash payments are not freely convertible into other currencies. As a result, this cash remains in Hill’s Libyan bank account. Since the end of the
Libyan civil unrest in October 2011, the Company has sought to recover its receivable from ODAC through ongoing negotiations rather than pursue its legal
rights for payment under the contracts. The Company continues to believe that this course of action provides the best likelihood for recovery as it could
result in completion of and payment on the existing contracts as well as the potential for the award of new contracts. There is at
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present no formal agreement, understanding or timetable for further payments of Hill’s accounts receivable from ODAC or a return to work on Hill’s existing
contracts. Management believes that the recent payments made in 2013 and 2014, along with standby letters of credit of approximately $14,000,000 posted
in our favor by ODAC, were made in good faith and are a positive indication that ODAC intends to satisfy its obligations to Hill. Currently, the Company
and ODAC are in the process of extending the standby letters of credit for an additional six-month term. However, the Company cannot predict with certainty
when, or if, the remaining accounts receivable will be paid by the Libyan authorities or when work will resume there. In the event that we do not realize any
further payments, there could be a significant adverse impact on our consolidated results of operations and consolidated financial position.
Additional Capital Requirements
Our subsidiary, Hill International (Spain), S.A. (“Hill Spain”), acquired an indirect 60% interest in Engineering S.A. (“ESA”), a firm located in Brazil. ESA’s
shareholders entered into an agreement whereby the minority shareholders have a right to compel (“ESA Put Option”) Hill Spain to purchase any or all of
their shares during the period from February 28, 2014 to February 28, 2021. Hill Spain also has the right to compel (“ESA Call Option”) the minority
shareholders to sell any or all of their shares during the same time period. The purchase price for such shares shall be seven times the earnings before interest
and taxes for ESA’s most recently ended fiscal year, net of any financial debt plus excess cash multiplied by a percentage which the shares to be purchased
bear to the total number of shares outstanding at the time of purchase, but in the event the ESA Call Option is exercised by Hill Spain, the purchase price
shall be increased by five percent. The ESA Put Option and the ESA Call Option must be made within three months after the audited financial statements of
ESA have been completed. In April 2014, two of the minority shareholders exercised their ESA Put Option whereby Hill Spain will pay approximately
7,838,000 Brazilian Reais (approximately $3,556,000). After the transaction is completed, Hill Spain will own approximately 72% of ESA.
Sources of Additional Capital
We have an effective registration statement on Form S-4 on file with the SEC to register 8,000,000 shares of our common stock for use in future acquisitions.
To date, we issued 1,561,077 shares in connection with our acquisitions of BCA and CPI. We will issue additional shares of our common stock in connection
with certain additional consideration and contingent consideration for those two acquisitions. However, we cannot predict whether, in the future, we will
offer these shares to potential sellers of businesses or assets we might consider acquiring or whether these shares will be acceptable as consideration by any
potential sellers.
In addition, we have an effective registration statement on Form S-3 on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) to register
20,000,000 shares of our common stock for issuance and sale by us at various times in the future. The proceeds, if any, will be used for working capital and
general corporate purposes, subject to the restrictions of our amended Credit Agreement and our amended Term Loan. We cannot predict the amount of
proceeds from those future sales, if any, or whether there will be a market for our common stock at the time of any such offering or offerings to the public.
Under the Form S-3, we sold 9,546,629 shares of our common stock at $4.25 per share in an underwritten public equity offering on August 6, 2014. The
offering generated gross proceeds amounting to approximately $40,573,000. After the deduction for an underwriting discount and expenses of the offering
we received net proceeds amounting to approximately $38,090,000. We intend to keep $10,000,000 in cash or cash equivalents until the closing of the
Secured Credit Facilities (see below) and use the balance of the net proceeds to repay certain obligations and outstanding borrowings under our existing
Credit Agreement and existing Term Loan. Upon closing of the Secured Credit Facilities, the Company intends to use the above-referenced $10,000,000 for
general working capital purposes.
We have recently entered into a Commitment Letter with Société Générale to provide secured debt facilities (“Secured Credit Facilities”) in an aggregate
principal amount of $165,000,000, consisting of a term loan facility of $120,000,000 and revolving credit facilities of $45,000,000. The proceeds would be
utilized for consummating the payoff and termination of our existing credit arrangements (the “Refinancing”) and for working capital needs. We anticipate
the closing of these facilities to occur in August 2014, however we cannot provide assurance that either the closing or the Refinancing will be completed.
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We cannot provide any assurance that any other sources of financing will be available, or if available, that the financing will be on terms acceptable to us.
Cash Flow Activity During the Six Months Ended June 30, 2014
For the six months ended June 30, 2014, our cash and cash equivalents decreased by $3,534,000 to $26,847,000. Cash used in operations was $7,630,000,
cash used in investing activities was $2,372,000 and cash provided by financing activities was $4,397,000. We also experienced an increase in cash of
$2,071,000 from the effect of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
Operating Activities
Our operations used cash of $7,630,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2014. This compares to cash used in operating activities of $6,149,000 for the six
months ended June 30, 2013. We had a consolidated net income in the six months ended June 30, 2014 amounting to $2,309,000 compared to a
consolidated income of $1,309,000 in the six months ended June 30, 2013. Depreciation and amortization was $4,864,000 in the six months ended June 30,
2014 compared to $5,196,000 in the six months ended June 30, 2013; the decrease in this category is due to the full amortization of the shorter-lived
intangible assets of companies which we acquired over the last several years. We had deferred tax expense of $307,000 in 2014 primarily due to several
minor temporary differences in foreign jurisdictions.
Cash held in restricted accounts as collateral for the issuance of performance and advance payment bonds and letters of credit at June 30, 2014 and June 30,
2013 were $16,780,000 and $17,470,000, respectively. The change results primarily from a reduction in the collateral requirements due to change in
financial institutions, partially offset by increases due to new collateral issued to support certain letters of credit related to new work in the Middle East.
Average days sales outstanding (“DSO”) at June 30, 2014 was 116 days compared to 124 days at June 30, 2013. DSO is a measure of our ability to collect our
accounts receivable and is calculated by dividing the total of the period-end gross accounts receivable balance by average daily revenue (i.e., in this case,
revenue for the quarter divided by 90 days). The decrease in DSO in 2014 was caused by the increases in our revenue outpacing the growth in our accounts
receivable. The overall level of DSO continues to be affected by the receivable due from the Libyan Organization for the Development of Administrative
Centers (“ODAC”) which is approximately $50,100,000 at June 30, 2014. This situation has had a detrimental effect on our operating cash flows over the last
three years, and we have had to rely on borrowings under our Credit Agreement and Term Loan to support our operations. Excluding the ODAC receivable,
the DSO would have been 87 days at June 30, 2014 and 89 days at June 30, 2013. Also, the age of our receivables is adversely affected by the timing of
payments from our clients in Europe, Africa (other than Libya) and the Middle East, which have historically been slower than payments from clients in other
geographic regions of the Company’s operations.
Although we continually monitor our accounts receivable, we manage our operating cash flows by managing the working capital accounts in total, rather
than by individual elements. The primary elements of our working capital are accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts payable and
deferred revenue. Accounts receivable consist of billing to our clients for our consulting fees and other job-related costs. Prepaid expenses and other current
assets consist of prepayments for various selling, general and administrative costs, such as insurance, rent, maintenance, etc. Accounts payable consist of
obligations to third parties relating primarily to costs incurred for specific engagements, including pass-through costs such as subcontractor costs. Deferred
revenue consists of payments received from clients in advance of work performed.
From year to year, the components of our working capital accounts may reflect significant changes. The changes are due primarily to the timing of cash
receipts and payments within our working capital accounts combined with increases in our receivables and payables relative to the increase in our overall
business, as well as our acquisition activity.
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Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $2,372,000 which was used to purchase computers, office equipment, furniture and fixtures.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $4,397,000. We received $4,626,000 from borrowings under our Credit Agreement. We also received
$933,000 from purchases under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan and exercise of stock options. Payments on notes payable amounted to $1,160,000.
Quarterly Fluctuations
Our operating results vary from period to period as a result of the timing of projects and assignments. We do not believe that our business is seasonal.
Backlog
We believe a strong indicator of our future performance is our backlog of uncompleted projects under contract or awarded. Our backlog represents
management’s estimate of the amount of contracts and awards in hand that we expect to result in future consulting fee revenue. Project Management backlog
is evaluated by management, on a project-by-project basis, and is reported for each period shown based upon the binding nature of the underlying contract,
commitment or letter of intent, and other factors, including the economic, financial and regulatory viability of the project and the likelihood of the contract
being extended, renewed or cancelled. Construction Claims backlog is based largely on management’s estimates of future revenue based on known
construction claims assignments and historical results for new work. Because a significant number of construction claims may be awarded and completed
within the same period, our actual construction claims revenue has historically exceeded backlog by a significant amount.
Our backlog is important to us in anticipating and planning for our operational needs. Backlog is not a measure defined in U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, and our methodology for determining backlog may not be comparable to the methodology used by other companies in determining
their backlog.
At June 30, 2014, our backlog was $972,000,000 compared to $978,000,000 at March 31, 2014. At June 30, 2014, backlog attributable to work in Libya
amounted to $44,000,000. We estimate that $404,000,000, or 41.6%, of the backlog at June 30, 2014 will be recognized during the twelve months
subsequent to June 30, 2014.
Although backlog reflects business that we consider to be firm, cancellations or scope adjustments may occur. Further, substantially all of our contracts with
our clients may be terminated at will, in which case the client would only be obligated to us for services provided through the termination date. Historically,
the impact of terminations and modifications on our realization of revenue from our backlog has not been significant, however, there can be no assurance that
such changes will not be significant in the future. Furthermore, reductions of our backlog as a result of contract terminations and modifications may be offset
by additions to the backlog.
We adjust backlog to reflect project cancellations, deferrals and revisions in scope and cost (both upward and downward) known at the reporting date. Future
contract modifications or cancellations, however, may increase or reduce backlog and future revenue.
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Total Backlog
$

12-Month Backlog
%

$

%

(dollars in thousands)

As of June 30, 2014:
Project Management
Construction Claims

$
$

As of March 31, 2014:
Project Management
Construction Claims

$
$

As of June 30, 2013:
Project Management
Construction Claims

$
$

Item 3.

923,000
49,000
972,000

95.0% $
5.0%
100.0% $

355,000
49,000
404,000

87.9%
12.1%
100.0%

934,000
44,000
978,000

95.5% $
4.5%
100.0% $

356,000
44,000
400,000

89.0%
11.0%
100.0

865,000
42,000
907,000

95.4% $
4.6%
100.0 % $

341,000
41,000
382,000

89.3%
10.7%
100.0

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Refer to the Company’s 2013 Annual Report for a complete discussion of the Company’s market risk. There have been no material changes to the market risk
information included in the Company’s 2013 Annual Report.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The management of the Company, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”)), as of June 30, 2014. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that,
as of that date, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in
our reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. During the quarter ended June 30, 2014, there were no
changes in our internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or were reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system
will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control
issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. However, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives.
40

Table of Contents
Part II — Other Information
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings

None.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

There have been no material changes pertaining to risk factors discussed in the Company’s 2013 Annual Report, except as follows:
We may not be able to consummate the contemplated Refinancing, which could negatively impact our interest expense. Our inability to consummate the
Refinancing could also materially and adversely affect our liquidity and our ongoing results of operation.
Our Existing Credit Agreement and Existing Term Loan mature on March 31, 2015 and October 18, 2016, respectively. If we are not able to consummate
the contemplated Refinancing, we may not be able to renew or otherwise refinance either or both of our Existing Credit Agreement and Existing Term Loan,
or any renewal or refinancing may occur on less favorable terms. If we are unable to refinance or renew our Existing Credit Agreement and Existing Term
Loan, our failure to repay all amounts due on the applicable maturity date would cause a default under the terms of the Existing Credit Agreement and
Existing Term Loan. In addition, our interest expense may increase significantly if we refinance or renew our Existing Credit Agreement or Existing Term
Loan on terms that are less favorable to us than the current terms.
Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Funds

None.
Item 3.

Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
Item 5.

Other Information

None.
Item 6.

Exhibits

10.1

Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2014, by and among Hill International, Inc., as Borrower,
Bank of America, N.A., Capital One, N.A., The PrivateBank and Trust Company, PNC Bank National Association, as Lenders, and Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent.

10.2

Second Amendment and Limited Waiver to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2014, by and among Hill International, Inc. as Borrower,
Special Opportunities Fund, LLC, Special Value Expansion Fund, LLC, Tennenbaum Opportunities Partners V, LP and Tennenbaum
Opportunities Fund VI, LLC, as Lenders, and Obsidian Agency Services, Inc., as administrative agent.

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document.

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document.

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
Hill International, Inc.
Dated: August 8, 2014

By:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: August 8, 2014

By:

/s/ John Fanelli III
John Fanelli III
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Dated: August 8, 2014

By:

/s/Ronald F. Emma
Ronald F. Emma
Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 10.1
EXECUTION VERSION
FIFTH AMENDMENT AND LIMITED WAIVER TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
FIFTH AMENDMENT AND LIMITED WAIVER, dated July 25, 2014 (the “Fifth Amendment”), to that certain Credit Agreement, dated June 30,
2009 (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”), among Hill International, Inc., as borrower (the “Borrower”), Bank of America, N.A. as administrative agent (the
“Administrative Agent”) and the Lenders (as defined therein).
WITNESSETH
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have provided certain loans and letters of credit to the Borrower which remain
outstanding;
WHEREAS, in connection with the Credit Agreement, the Borrower executed that certain Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated June 30, 2009
(as the same has been or may be amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Collateral Agreement”) pursuant to which,
among other things, the Borrower and the other Grantors (as defined therein) guarantied the Obligations and granted in favor of the Administrative Agent, for
the benefit of the Secured Parties, a security interest in substantially all of their assets; and
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders amend the Credit Agreement and waive certain provisions
therein as set forth herein to provide for, among other things, the ability to issue certain Equity Interests and to obtain financing to repay in full all
Obligations under the Credit Agreement (and make satisfactory arrangements with respect to certain Letters of Credit), and the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders are willing to do so, but only on the terms and conditions set forth herein;
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1
General. Terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein shall, unless otherwise indicated, have the meanings given to
them in the Credit Agreement. Terms defined and used in this Fifth Amendment shall have the meanings given to them in this Fifth Amendment.
Section 1.2
alphabetical order:

Additional Definitions. Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting the following new definitions in

“Fifth Amendment Effective Date” has the meaning specified in Article IV of the Fifth Amendment.
“Fifth Amendment Waiver Period” means the period from the Fifth Amendment Effective Date through and including September 30, 2014.

ARTICLE II
LIMITED WAIVER
Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders hereby waive the provisions of Section 7.06 of the Credit
Agreement (Restricted Payments) solely with respect to the public issuance or sale of any Equity Interests in the Borrower during the Fifth Amendment
Waiver Period, provided, however that said waiver shall be limited to the issuance or sale made pursuant to a single transaction or as part of a series of related
transactions and resulting in net cash proceeds payable to the Borrower of not less than $30,000,000.
ARTICLE III
AMENDMENTS
Section 3.1
Rate” the following:

Amendment to Section 1.01 (Defined Terms). Section 1.01 is hereby amended by adding at the end of the definition of “Applicable

“Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, from and after consummation of a transaction that provides for the payment in full of
all Obligations (other than Letters of Credit as to which other arrangements shall have been made consistent with Section 9.10(a) hereof) the
Applicable Rate shall be 8.0% per annum.”
Section 3.2
Amendment to Section 2.07 (Repayment of Loans). Section 2.07 is hereby amended by deleting subsection (c)(ii)(x) thereof in its
entirety and substituting the following therefor:
“(c)(ii)(x) up to 50% of the remaining net proceeds (A) to repay all or a portion of the Loans (subject to reborrowing) then outstanding or, (B) in the
case of an event described in (v) of the Definition of Designated Liquidity (proceeds from issuance or sale of Equity Interests), to Cash Collateralize
(in a non-interest bearing account) the then existing L/C Obligations and”
Section 3.3
Amendment to Section 9.10 (Collateral and Guaranty Matters). Section 9.10 is hereby amended by deleting subsection (a) thereof
in its entirety and substituting the following therefor:
“(a) to release any Lien on any property granted to or held by the Administrative Agent under any Loan Document (i) upon termination of the
Aggregate Commitments and payment in full of all Obligations (other than (A) contingent indemnification obligations as to which arrangements
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent have been made, (B) obligations and liabilities under Secured Cash Management Agreements and Secured
Hedge Agreements as to which arrangements satisfactory to the applicable Cash Management Bank or Hedge Bank shall have been made and (C) the
expiration or termination of all Letters of Credit (other than Letters of Credit as to which the Administrative Agent has received (1) a back-stop letter
of credit issued by a financial institution acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion or Cash Collateral (deposited with the
Administrative Agent in a non-interest bearing account), (2) in an amount equal to 105% of the then Outstanding Amount (Dollar equivalent) and
(3) documentation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent
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and the L/C Issuer; provided, that upon receipt of said back-stop letter of credit the Administrative Agent shall return to the Borrower all Cash
Collateral then held (net of any expense reimbursement) with respect to the then existing L/C Obligations), (ii) that is sold or to be sold as part of or
in connection with any sale permitted hereunder or under any other Loan Document, or (iii) if approved, authorized or ratified in writing in
accordance with Section 10.01;”
ARTICLE IV
EFFECTIVE DATE
This Fifth Amendment shall become effective as of the date when each of the following has been satisfied or waived in accordance with the terms
hereof (the “Fifth Amendment Effective Date”):
(a)
Receipt by the Administrative Agent of counterparts of the Fifth Amendment executed by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders;
(b)
Receipt by the Administrative Agent of counterparts of the Consent and Reaffirmation of Guaranty, annexed hereto, executed by each
Guarantor;
(c)
Receipt by the Administrative Agent of an amendment to the Second Lien Credit Agreement permitting the public issuance or sale of
Equity Interests by the Borrower, consenting to the provisions of this Fifth Amendment and otherwise in form and substance reasonably satisfactory
to the Administrative Agent; and
(d)
Payment by the Borrower of all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent, including reasonable fees and expenses of
Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP, counsel for the Administrative Agent (based on summary invoices, without waiver of any privilege or
confidentiality).
ARTICLE V
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 5.1
Continuing Effect of the Credit Agreement. The Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders hereby acknowledge and
agree that the Credit Agreement shall continue to be and shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect in accordance with its terms, except as expressly
modified hereby, and is hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed. Any terms or conditions contained in this Fifth Amendment shall control over any
inconsistent terms or conditions in the Credit Agreement.
Section 5.2
No Waiver. Except as expressly provided herein, nothing contained in this Fifth Amendment shall be construed or interpreted or is
interpreted or intended as a waiver of or any limitation on any rights, powers, privileges or remedies that the Administrative Agent or the Lenders have or may
have under the Credit Agreement or applicable law on account of any Default or Event of Default or otherwise.
Section 5.3
Amendment, (a) all

Representations and Warranties. Borrower hereby represents and warrants as of the date hereof that, after giving effect to this Fifth
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representations and warranties contained in the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects with the same effect as if made on and as of such
date, except to the extent any of such representations and warranties relate to a specific date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be
deemed true and correct on and as of such date and (b) after giving effect to this Fifth Amendment, no Default or Event of Default exists.
Section 5.4
the Loan Documents.

Reaffirmation of Covenants. Borrower hereby expressly reaffirms each of the covenants made by it in the Credit Agreement and

Section 5.5
Release. The Borrower, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, successors, assigns and other legal representatives (each a
“Releasing Party”) hereby releases, waives, and forever relinquishes all claims, demands, obligations, liabilities and causes of action of whatever kind or
nature (collectively, the “Claims”), whether known or unknown, which any of them have, may have, or might assert at the time of the execution of this Fifth
Amendment or in the future against the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and/or their respective present and former parents, affiliates, participants, officers,
directors, employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, consultants, successors and assigns (each a “Releasee”), directly or indirectly, which occurred, existed,
were taken, permitted or begun from the beginning of time through the date hereof, arising out of, based upon, or in any manner connected with (a) the Loan
Documents and/or the administration thereof or the Obligations created thereby, (b) any discussions, commitments, negotiations, conversations or
communications with respect to the refinancing, restructuring or collection of any Obligations related to the Credit Agreement, any other Loan Document
and/or the administration thereof or the Obligations created thereby, or (c) any matter related to the foregoing; provided, however, that (i) the foregoing shall
not release Claims arising following the date hereof, and (ii) such release shall not be available to the extent that such Claims are determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of a Releasee.
Section 5.6
Covenant Not to Sue. Each Releasing Party hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably, covenants and agrees with and in
favor of each Releasee that it will not sue (at law, in equity, in any regulatory proceeding or otherwise) any Releasee on the basis of any Claim released,
remised and discharged by such Releasing Party pursuant to Section 5.5 above. If a Releasing Party violates the foregoing covenant, all Releasing Parties
agree to pay, in addition to such other damages as any Releasee may sustain as a result of such violation, all attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by any
Releasee as a result of such violation.
Section 5.7
Reference to and Effect on the Loan Documents. On and after the date hereof and the satisfaction of the conditions contained in
Article IV of this Fifth Amendment, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof” or words of like import referring to the
“Credit Agreement”, and each reference in the other Loan Documents to “the Credit Documents”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to
the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby. For purposes of the Credit Agreement, all of the agreements
of the Borrower and the Guarantors contained in this Fifth Amendment shall be deemed to be, and shall be, agreements under the Credit Agreement.
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Section 5.8
Payment of Expenses. The Borrower, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, agrees to pay or reimburse the Administrative Agent
for all of its reasonable out of pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation and documentation of this Fifth Amendment, any other
documents prepared in connection herewith and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements
of counsel to the Administrative Agent. In furtherance hereof and the provisions of the Credit Agreement, each of the Loan Parties jointly and severally
agrees to reimburse the Administrative Agent for all such reasonable costs, fees and expenses (including but not limited to reasonable fees and expenses of its
counsel).
Section 5.9
Lender Reaffirmation, Indemnification and Authorization. Each Lender acknowledges, reaffirms and ratifies its obligation to
indemnify and hold harmless the Administrative Agent and its directors, officers, employees and agents pursuant to, and subject to, the terms and conditions
of Section 10.04 of the Credit Agreement, (the “Administrative Agent’s Indemnity”) and acknowledges and agrees that the Administrative Agent’s Indemnity
(subject to the terms and conditions hereof) shall apply to any and all acts or omissions of the Administrative Agent taken or omitted to be taken pursuant to,
arising out of, in connection with or in respect to this Fifth Amendment or any of the other Loan Documents.
Section 5.10
Counterparts. This Fifth Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties hereto in any number of separate counterparts
(which may include counterparts delivered by facsimile transmission or electronic mail) and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to
constitute one and the same instrument. Any executed counterpart delivered by facsimile transmission or electronic mail shall be effective for all purposes
hereof.
Section 5.11
GOVERNING LAW. THIS FIFTH AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UNDER THIS
FIFTH AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK;
SIGNATURES TO FOLLOW]
5

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Fifth Amendment to be duly executed and delivered by their respective proper and
duly authorized agents as of the date first written above.
BORROWER:
HILL INTERNATIONAL, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Fifth Amendment - Signature Page

ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT:
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Christine Trotter
Christine Trotter
Assistant Vice President

Fifth Amendment - Signature Page

LENDERS:
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Lender, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ John M. Schuessler
John M. Schuessler
Senior Vice President

Fifth Amendment - Signature Page

CAPITAL ONE, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Lender
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Robert P. Harvey
Robert P. Harvey
Senior Director

Fifth Amendment - Signature Page

THE PRIVATEBANK AND TRUST COMPANY, as Lender
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Joseph G. Fudacz
Joseph G. Fudacz
Managing Director

Fifth Amendment - Signature Page

PNC BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Lender
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Steven J. McGehrin
Steven J. McGehrin
Senior Vice President

Fifth Amendment - Signature Page

CONSENT AND REAFFIRMATION OF GUARANTY
Each Guarantor hereby consents to the execution and delivery by the Borrower of the Fifth Amendment and Limited Waiver (the “Fifth
Amendment”) to that certain Credit Agreement, dated June 30, 2009 (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”), among Hill International, Inc. as borrower, Bank
of America, N.A., as administrative agent, and the Lenders (capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in
the Credit Agreement), and jointly and severally ratifies and confirms the terms of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement with respect to the indebtedness
now or hereafter outstanding under the Credit Agreement, as amended. Each Guarantor acknowledges that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in the Credit Agreement, the Fifth Amendment or any other Loan Document, or any actions now or hereafter taken by the Lenders with respect to
any obligation of the Borrower, the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (i) is and shall continue to be a primary obligation of such Guarantor, (ii) is and shall
continue to be an absolute, unconditional, joint and several, continuing and irrevocable guaranty of payment, and (iii) is and shall continue to be in full force
and effect in accordance with its terms. Except as expressly set forth therein, nothing contained in the Fifth Amendment shall release, discharge, modify,
change or affect the original liability of such Guarantors under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK;
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BOYKEN INTERNATIONAL, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman

TRANSPORTATION CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

TCM GROUP
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

PCI GROUP, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

TRS CONSULTANTS, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman

Consent and Reaffirmation — Signature Page

HILL INTERNATIONAL REAL ESTATE, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ David L. Richter
David L. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

HILL INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

HILL INTERNATIONAL (PUERTO RICO), INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
President

Consent and Reaffirmation — Signature Page

Exhibit 10.2
EXECUTION COPY
SECOND AMENDMENT AND LIMITED WAIVER TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
SECOND AMENDMENT AND LIMITED WAIVER dated July 25, 2014 (the “Second Amendment”), to that certain Credit Agreement, dated
October 18, 2012 (the “Credit Agreement”), among Hill International, Inc., as borrower (the “Borrower”), Obsidian Agency Services, Inc., as administrative
agent (the “Administrative Agent”), and the Lenders (as defined therein).
WITNESSETH
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have provided certain loans to the Borrower which remain outstanding;
WHEREAS, in connection with the Credit Agreement, the Borrower executed that certain Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated October 18,
2012 (the “Collateral Agreement”) pursuant to which, among other things, the Borrower and the other Grantors (as defined therein) guarantied the
Obligations and granted in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a security interest in substantially all of their assets;
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders amend the Credit Agreement, waive a certain provision
therein and provide a certain consent relating to the Loan Documents and the Working Capital Loan Documents as set forth herein, but only on the terms and
conditions set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1
General. Terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein shall, unless otherwise indicated, have the meanings given to
them in the Credit Agreement. Terms defined and used in this Second Amendment shall have the meanings given to them in this Second Amendment.
Section 1.2
alphabetical order:

Additional Definitions. Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting the following new definitions in

“Second Amendment Effective Date” has the meaning specified in Article IV of the Second Amendment.
“Second Amendment Waiver Period” means the period from the Second Amendment Effective Date through and including September 30, 2014.
ARTICLE II
LIMITED WAIVER; CONSENT
Section 2.1
Limited Waiver. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders hereby waive the
provisions of Section 7.06 of the Credit

Agreement (Restricted Payments) solely with respect to the public issuance or sale of any Equity Interests in the Borrower during the Second Amendment
Waiver Period, provided, however that said waiver shall be limited to the issuance or sale made pursuant to a single transaction or as part of a series of related
transactions and resulting in net cash proceeds payable to the Borrower of not less than $30,000,000.
Section 2.2
Consent. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Administrative Agent and the Lender hereby consent to and approve of
the amendments and waiver to or in respect of the Working Capital Loan Documents effected pursuant to and which are the subject of that certain Fifth
Amendment and Limited Waiver, dated July 25, 2014, to that certain Working Capital Credit Agreement, among the Borrower, the Working Capital Agent
and the lenders party thereto.
ARTICLE III
AMENDMENT
Section 3.1
Amendment to Section 2.07 (Repayment of Loans). Section 2.07 is hereby amended by deleting subsection (b)(ii)(x) thereof in its
entirety and substituting the following therefor:
“(b)(ii)(x) up to 50% of the remaining net proceeds (A) to repay all or a portion of the Working Capital Loans (subject to reborrowing) then
outstanding pursuant to the Working Capital Credit Agreement or, (B) in the case of an event described in (v) of the definition of Designated
Liquidity (proceeds from issuance or sale of Equity Interests), to Cash Collateralize (as such term is defined in the Working Capital Credit
Agreement) (in a non-interest bearing account) the then existing L/C Obligations (as such term is defined in the Working Capital Credit Agreement)
pursuant to the Working Capital Credit Agreement and”
ARTICLE IV
EFFECTIVE DATE
This Second Amendment shall become effective as of the date (the “Second Amendment Effective Date”) when each of the following has been
satisfied or waived in accordance with the terms hereof:
(a)
Receipt by the Administrative Agent of counterparts of the Second Amendment executed by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and
the Required Lenders;
(b)
Receipt by the Administrative Agent of counterparts of the Consent and Reaffirmation of Guaranty, annexed hereto, executed by each
Guarantor;
(c)
Receipt by the Administrative Agent of an amendment to the Working Capital Credit Agreement, permitting the public issuance or sale of
Equity Interests by the Borrower, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent;
(d)
Payment by the Borrower of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent, including reasonable fees and expenses of
Schulte Roth & Zabel
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LLP, counsel for the Administrative Agent (to the extent an invoice(s) in respect of the same is furnished to the Borrower on or prior to the date
hereof).
ARTICLE V
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 5.1
Continuing Effect of the Credit Agreement. The Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders hereby acknowledge and
agree that the Credit Agreement shall continue to be and shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect in accordance with its terms, except as expressly
modified hereby, and is hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed. Any terms or conditions contained in this Second Amendment shall control over any
inconsistent terms or conditions in the Credit Agreement.
Section 5.2
No Waiver. Except as expressly provided herein, nothing contained in this Second Amendment shall be construed or interpreted
or is interpreted or intended as a waiver of or any limitation on any rights, powers, privileges or remedies that the Administrative Agent or the Lenders have or
may have under the Credit Agreement or applicable law on account of any Default or Event of Default or otherwise.
Section 5.3
Representations and Warranties. Borrower hereby represents and warrants as of the date hereof that, after giving effect to this
Second Amendment, (a) all representations and warranties contained in the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects with the same effect
as if made on and as of such date, except to the extent any of such representations and warranties relate to a specific date, in which case such representations
and warranties shall be deemed true and correct on and as of such date and (b) after giving effect to this Second Amendment, no Default or Event of Default
exists.
Section 5.4
the Loan Documents.

Reaffirmation of Covenants. Borrower hereby expressly reaffirms each of the covenants made by it in the Credit Agreement and

Section 5.5
Release. The Borrower, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, successors, assigns and other legal representatives (each a
“Releasing Party”) hereby releases, waives, and forever relinquishes all claims, demands, obligations, liabilities and causes of action of whatever kind or
nature (collectively, the “Claims”), whether known or unknown, which any of them have, may have, or might assert at the time of the execution of this
Second Amendment or in the future against the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and/or their respective present and former parents, affiliates, participants,
officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, consultants, successors and assigns (each a “Releasee”), directly or indirectly, which occurred,
existed, were taken, permitted or begun from the beginning of time through the date hereof, arising out of, based upon, or in any manner connected with
(a) the Loan Documents and/or the administration thereof or the Obligations created thereby, (b) any discussions, commitments, negotiations, conversations
or communications with respect to the refinancing, restructuring or collection of any Obligations related to the Credit Agreement, any other Loan Document
and/or the administration thereof or the Obligations created thereby, or (c) any matter related to the foregoing; provided, however, that (i) the foregoing shall
not release Claims arising following the date hereof, and (ii) such release shall not be available to the extent that such
3

Claims are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of a Releasee.
Section 5.6
Covenant Not to Sue. Each Releasing Party hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably, covenants and agrees with and in
favor of each Releasee that it will not sue (at law, in equity, in any regulatory proceeding or otherwise) any Releasee on the basis of any Claim released,
remised and discharged by such Releasing Party pursuant to Section 6.6 above. If a Releasing Party violates the foregoing covenant, all Releasing Parties
agree to pay, in addition to such other damages as any Releasee may sustain as a result of such violation, all attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by any
Releasee as a result of such violation.
Section 5.7
Reference to and Effect on the Loan Documents. On and after the date hereof and the satisfaction of the conditions contained in
Article IV of this Second Amendment, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof” or words of like import referring to
the “Credit Agreement”, and each reference in the other Loan Documents to “the Credit Documents”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring
to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby. For purposes of the Credit Agreement, all of the
agreements of the Borrower and the Guarantors contained in this Second Amendment shall be deemed to be, and shall be, agreements under the Credit
Agreement.
Section 5.8
Payment of Expenses. The Borrower, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, agrees to pay or reimburse the Administrative Agent
for all of its reasonable out of pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation and documentation of this Second Amendment, any
other documents prepared in connection herewith and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and
disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agent. In furtherance hereof and the provisions of the Credit Agreement, each of the Loan Parties jointly and
severally agrees to reimburse the Administrative Agent for all such costs, fees and expenses (including but not limited to reasonable fees and expenses of its
counsel).
Section 5.9
Lender Reaffirmation, Indemnification and Authorization. Each Lender acknowledges, reaffirms and ratifies its obligation to
indemnify and hold harmless the Administrative Agent and its directors, officers, employees and agents pursuant to, and subject to, the terms and conditions
of Section 10.04 of the Credit Agreement, (the “Administrative Agent’s Indemnity”) and acknowledges and agrees that the Administrative Agent’s Indemnity
(subject to the terms and conditions hereof) shall apply to any and all acts or omissions of the Administrative Agent taken or omitted to be taken pursuant to,
arising out of, in connection with or in respect to this Second Amendment or any of the other Loan Documents. Each Lender hereby grants to the
Administrative Agent all requisite authority to enter into or otherwise become bound by the Intercreditor Agreement and to bind the Lenders thereto by the
Administrative Agent’s entering into or otherwise becoming bound thereby, and no further consent or approval on the part of the Lenders is or will be
required in connection with the performance of the Intercreditor Agreement.
Section 5.10
Counterparts. This Second Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties hereto in any number of separate
counterparts (which may include counterparts
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delivered by facsimile transmission or electronic mail) and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.
Any executed counterpart delivered by facsimile transmission or electronic mail shall be effective for all purposes hereof.
Section 5.11
GOVERNING LAW. THIS SECOND AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UNDER THIS
SECOND AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE
OF NEW YORK.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK;
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Amendment to be duly executed and delivered by their respective proper and
duly authorized agents as of the date first written above.
BORROWER:
HILL INTERNATIONAL, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:
6

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT:
OBSIDIAN AGENCY SERVICES, INC., as Administrative Agent
By:
Name:
Title:
7

/s/ Howard Levkowitz
Howard Levkowitz
President

LENDERS:
SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND, LLC
SPECIAL VALUE EXPANSION FUND, LLC
TENNENBAUM OPPORTUNITIES PARTNERS V, LP
TENNENBAUM OPPORTUNITIES FUND VI, LLC,
as Lenders
By: Tennenbaum Capital Partners, LLC
Its: Investment Manager
By:
Name:
Title:
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/s/ Howard Levkowitz
Howard Levkowitz
Managing Partner

CONSENT AND REAFFIRMATION OF GUARANTY
Each Guarantor hereby consents to the execution and delivery by the Borrower of the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated July 25, 2014
(the “Second Amendment”) relating to the Credit Agreement dated October 18, 2012 (the “Credit Agreement”) among Hill International, Inc. as borrower,
Obsidian Agency Services, Inc., as administrative agent and the Lenders party thereto (capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall
have the meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement), and jointly and severally ratifies and confirms the terms of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement
with respect to the indebtedness now or hereafter outstanding under the Credit Agreement, as amended. Each Guarantor acknowledges that, notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in the Credit Agreement, the Second Amendment or any other Loan Document, or any actions now or hereafter taken by
the Lenders with respect to any obligation of the Borrower, the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (i) is and shall continue to be a primary obligation of
such Guarantor, (ii) is and shall continue to be an absolute, unconditional, joint and several, continuing and irrevocable guaranty of payment, and (iii) is and
shall continue to be in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. Except as expressly set forth therein, nothing contained in the Second Amendment
shall release, discharge, modify, change or affect the original liability of such Guarantors under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK;
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BOYKEN INTERNATIONAL, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman

TRANSPORTATION CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

TCM GROUP
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

PCI GROUP, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

TRS CONSULTANTS, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman

Consent and Reaffirmation Signature Page

HILL INTERNATIONAL REAL ESTATE, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ David L. Richter
David L. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

HILL INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

HILL INTERNATIONAL (PUERTO RICO), INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
President

Consent and Reaffirmation Signature Page

Exhibit 31.1
Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer
I, Irvin E. Richter, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Hill International, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures; and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
Dated: August 8, 2014

/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Officer
I, John Fanelli III, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Hill International, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures; and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
Dated: August 8, 2014

/s/ John Fanelli III
John Fanelli III
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Hill International, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2014 (the “Report”), I, Irvin
E. Richter, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ Irvin E. Richter
Irvin E. Richter
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Dated: August 8, 2014

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Hill International, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2014 (the “Report”), I, John
Fanelli III, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ John Fanelli III
John Fanelli III
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Dated: August 8, 2014

